SSC-271 (SL-7-12)

A CORRELATION STUDY OF SL-7 CONTAINERSHIP LOADS AND MOTIONS -MODEL TESTS AND COMPUTER SIMULATION



This document has been approved for public release and sale; its distribution is unlimited.

ì

SHIP STRUCTURE COMMITTEE 1977

SHIP STRUCTURE COMMITTEE

AN INTERAGENCY ADVISORY COMMITTEE DEDICATED TO IMPROVING THE STRUCTURE OF SHIPS

MEMBER AGENCIES:

UNITED STATES COAST GUARD NAVAL SHIP SYSTEMS COMMAND MILITARY SEALIFT COMMAND MARITIME ADMINISTRATION AMERICAN BUREAU OF SHIPPING ADDRESS CORRESPONDENCE TO:

SECRETARY SHIP STRUCTURE COMMITTEE U.S. COAST GUARD HEADQUARTERS WASHINGTON, D.C. 2059**D**

SR-230

1 DEC 1977

This report is one of a group of Ship Structure Committee Reports which describes the SL-7 Instrumentation Program. This program, a jointly funded undertaking of Sea-Land Service, Inc., the American Bureau of Shipping and the Ship Structure Committee, represents an excellent example of cooperation between private industry, regulatory authority and government. The goal of the program is to advance understanding of the performance of ships' hull structures and the effectiveness of the analytical and experimental methods used in their design. While the experiments and analyses of the program are keyed to the SL-7 Containership and a considerable body of data has been developed relating specifically to that ship, the conclusions of the program will be completely general, and thus applicable to any surface ship structure.

The program includes measurement of hull stresses, accelerations and environmental and operating data on the SS SEA-LAND MCLEAN, development and installation of a microwave radar wavemeter for measuring the seaway encountered by the vessel, a wave tank model study and a theoretical hydrodynamic analysis which relate to the wave induced loads, a structural model study and a finite element structural analysis which relate to the structural response, and installation of long term stress recorders on each of the eight vessels of the class. In addition, work is underway to develop the initial correlations of the results of the several program elements.

Results of each of the program elements will be published as Ship Structure Committee Reports and each of the reports relating to this program will be identified by an SL- designation along with the usual SSCnumber. A list of all of the SL- reports published to date is included on the back cover of this report.

This report contains the results and discussions of the loads and motions correlation between model test and computer simulation results.

W. M. Benkert

Rear Admiral, U.S. Coast Guard Chairman, Ship Structure Committee

SSC-271

(SL-7-12)

Final Technical Report

on

Project SR-230, "SL-7 Data Correlation"

A CORRELATION STUDY OF SL-7 CONTAINERSHIP

LOADS AND MOTIONS -

MODEL TESTS AND COMPUTER SIMULATION

by

P. Kaplan, T. P. Sargent, and M. Silbert

OCEANICS, INC.

under

Department of the Navy Naval Sea Systems Command Contract No. NOO024-75-C-4285

This document has been approved for public release and sale; its distribution is unlimited.

> U. S. Coast Guard Headquarters Washington, D.C. 1977

> > ..

.

ABSTRACT

A correlation study is carried out [for the SL-7 container ship]by means of comparison of results for structural loads and motions in waves obtained from model tests and computer calculations. The different aspects that could affect computer predictions are examined via further computations and analyses in order to determine their influence on the output data. Similarly an examination of the possible effects that influence the model test data are also examined. The main objective of this study is to determine the capabilities of both test methods for prediction purposes.

Comparisons are also made between theoretical predictions and results for other related ship models for which test data are available. Consistency of various results obtained is used as a basis for assessing the degree of validity of any particular method, as well as determining the exact difference in results due to various mechanisms that influence both the theory and experiments. Improvements in the theoretical model leading to an extended SCORES theory are described, together with the comparison with a range of available data for the SL-7 and other ships. The particular type of output information, as well as the regions wherein such data are found to differ significantly from the theory are described together with suggested reasons for such lack of agreement. Recommendations for additional tests and further computations for comparison purposes are also provided, with an interim conclusion that the computer program (extended SCORES theory) is presently a suitable tool for prediction purposes.

CONTENTS

-

÷

3

~.

Page

INTRODUCTION	1							
GENERAL OUTLINE OF TECHNIQUES USED IN STUDY								
Computer Prediction Analysis								
Input Data	3 4 4							
Effect of Neglected Coefficients in Equation System	4							
Results	5 5 5 6							
Nonlinear Roll Effect	6							
Model Test Data	6							
Measurement Precision	7 7 7							
Directional Stability	7							
Data Correlation Analysis	7							
SHIP CHARACTERISTICS USED IN STUDY	8							
RESULTS OF COMPUTATIONS WITH SCORES PROGRAM	12							
Effect of Weight Distribution	12 12 12 16 17							
EXTENDED SCORES THEORY AND RESULTS OF COMPARISON WITH	17							
Theoretical Model	18 21							
Vertical Plane Responses	21 22							
Effect of Roll Damping	45 55 59 65							

-iii-

- -

Page

ANALYSIS AND COMPUTATIONS FOR LOW ENCOUNTER FREQUENCY	•	71
DISCUSSION OF SL-7 MODEL TEST DATA		72
Wave Measurements	•	74
Roll Static and Inertial Characteristics	•	15
Directional Control and Influence on Lateral-	•	75
Plane Responses	•	76
Effect of Rudder and Data-Measurement Precision	•	77
CORRELATION BETWEEN THEORY AND EXPERIMENT		77
Comparison of Irregular-Sea Responses	•	82
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	•	82
REFERENCES		00
	•	ŏδ

-

LIST OF FIGURES

,

5

٦

5

- ------

No.	Title	<u>Page</u>
1	Pitch and phase lag, 180° heading	23
2	Midship vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 180° heading	23
3	Frame 258 vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 180° heading	24
4	Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 180° heading	24
5	Frame 258 vertical shear and phase lag, 180° heading	25
6	Pitch and phase lag, 210° heading	25
7	Midship vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 210° heading	26
8	Frame 258 vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 210° heading	26
9	Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 210° heading	27
10	Frame 258 vertical shear and phase lag, 210° heading	27
11	Pitch and phase lag, 240° heading	28
12	Midship vertical wave bending moment and phase lag, 240° heading	28
13	Frame 258 vertical wave bending moment and phase lag, 240° heading	29
14	Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 240° heading	29
15	Frame 258 vertical shear and phase lag, 240° heading	30
16	Pitch and phase lag, 60° heading	30
17	Midship vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 60° heading	31
18	Frame 258 vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 60° heading	31
19	Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 60° heading	32
20	Frame 258 vertical shear and phase lag, 60° heading	32
21	Pitch and phase lag, 30° heading	33
22	Midship vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 30° heading	33
23	Frame 258 vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 30° heading	34
24	Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 30° heading	34
25	Frame 258 vertical shear and phase lag, 30° heading	35
26	Pitch and phase lag, 0° heading	35
27	Midship vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 0° heading	36

-v-

.

<u>No.</u>	<u>Title</u>	Page
28	Frame 258 vertical wave bending moments and phase lag, 0° heading	36
29	Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 0° heading	37
30	Frame 258 vertical shear and phase lag, 0° heading	37
31	Midship lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 210° heading	38
32	Frame 258 lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 210° heading	38
33	Midship lateral shear and phase lag, 210° heading	39
34	Frame 258 lateral shear and phase lag, 210° heading	39
35	Midship torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 210° heading	40
36	Frame 258 torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 210° heading	40
37	Midship lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 240° heading	41
38	Frame 258 lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 240° heading	41
39	Frame 258 lateral shear and phase, 240° heading	42
40	Midship lateral shear and phase lag, 240° heading	42
41	Midship torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 240° heading	43
42	Frame 258 torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 240° heading	43
43	Roll and phase lag, 60° heading	46
44	Midship lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 60° heading	46
45	Frame 258 lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 60° heading	47
46	Midship lateral shear and phase lag, 60° heading	47
47	Frame 258 lateral shear and phase lag, 60° heading	48
48	Midship torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 60° heading	48
49	Frame 258 torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 60° heading	49
50	Roll and phase lag, 30° heading	49
51	Midship lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 30° heading	50
52	Frame 258 lateral wave bending moments and phase lag, 30° heading	50
53	Midship lateral shear and phase lag, 30° heading	51
54	Frame 258 lateral shear and phase lag, 30° heading	51

ç

۰.

2

,

	No.	Title	Page
	55	Midship torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 30° heading	52
	56	Frame 258 torsional wave bending moments and phase lag, 30° heading	52
	57	Roll extinctions.	54
	58	Roll extinctions.	54
	59	Effect of critical roll damping, 60° heading	56
	60	Effect of critical roll damping, 30° heading	56
	61	Effect of leeway, 60° heading	57
	62	Effect of leeway, 60° heading	57
	63	Effect of leeway, 30° heading	57
	64	Effect of leeway, 30° heading	58
	65	Effect of leeway, 180° and 210° heading	58
	66	Dutch container ship, $F_{n} = .245$, heading = 180°	60
	67	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 180°	60
	68	Dutch container ship, $F_{p}^{''}$ = .245, heading = 180°	61
	69	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 180°	61
	70	Dutch container ship, $F_{n} = .245$, heading = 225°	62
	71	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 65°	62
	72	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$	63
	73	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 65°	63
	74	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 65°	64
	75	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 65°	64
	76	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 45°	66
	77	Dutch container ship, $F_{1} = .245$, heading = 45°	66
	78	Dutch container ship, $F_n^{''} = .245$, heading = 25°	67
	79	Dutch container ship, $F_n = .245$, heading = 25°	67
	80	Non-dimensional midship wave moments on Series 60, Block .80 hull, $F_n = 0.15$, 170° heading	68
~	81	Non-dimensional midship wave moments on Series 60, Block .80 hull, $F_n = 0.15$, 130° heading	68
	82	Non-dimensional midship wave moments on Series 60, Block .80 hull, $F_n = 0.15$, 90° heading	69
2	83	Non-dimensional midship wave moments on Series 60, Block .80 hull, $F_n = 0.15$, 50° heading	69

-

- -

•

-vii-

- · · · · · · · ·

No.	Title	<u>Page</u>
84	Non-dimensional midship wave moments on Series 60, Block .80 hull, $F_n = 0.15$, 10° heading	70
85	Heave and pitch, 0° heading	73
86	Midship vertical wave bending moments and wave phase lag, 0° heading	80
87	Midship vertical wave bending moments and wave phase lag, 30° heading	80
88	Midship vertical wave bending moments and wave phase lag, 60° heading	81

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Ship Characteristics	9
2.	Weight Properties of the SL-7 (Heavy) Used in the Computer Program	10
3.	Weight Properties of the SL-7 (Light) Used in the Computer Program	11
4.	Comparison Between Theoretical and Experimental R.M.S. Responses in Short-Crested Seas	83

2

ł

NOMENCLATURE

a	= wave amplitude
a',b,c'	,d,e,g' = coefficients in vertical (heave) equation of motion
^a 11' ^a 12	' ^a 17' ^a 18 = coefficients in surge equation of motion
^a 31' ^a 32	= coefficients in pitch equation of motion coupling surge
A,B,C,I),E,G' = coefficients in vertical plane (pitch) equation of motion
A'22	= sectional vertical added mass
в*	= local waterline beam
BM_	= vertical bending moment
c	= wave speed (celerity)
$\frac{df_z}{dx}$	= total local vertical loading on ship
dK dx	= sectional hydrodynamic moment, about x axis, on ship
<u>dx</u> dx	= sectional longitudinal hydrodynamic force on ship
<u>dy</u> dx	= sectional lateral hydrodynamic force on ship
$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{Z}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}}$	= sectional vertical hydrodynamic and hydrostatic force on ship
Frs	= sectional lateral added mass due to roll motion
a	= acceleration of gravity
GB	= vertical distance between center of gravity and center of buoyancy of ship
GM	= initial metacentric height of ship
ĥ	= mean section draft
H	= sectional draft
k	= wave number
k ₁	= longitudinal added mass coefficient
ĸ	= wave excitation moment, about x axis, on ship
m	= mass of ship
Ms	= sectional lateral added mass
M S φ	= sectional added mass moment of inertia due to lateral motion

-ix-

2

ż

.

- ---- -

M W	=	wave excitation moment, about y axis, on ship
N rs	=	sectional lateral damping force coefficient due to roll motion
N _s	=	sectional lateral damping force coefficient
N _{sφ}	=	sectional damping moment coefficient due to lateral motion
N'x	=	sectional longitudinal damping force coefficient
Nz	=	sectional vertical damping force coefficient
ŌĞ	=	vertical distance between waterline and center of gravity, positive up
R _T	=	total resistance (drag) of ship
S	=	local section area
t	=	time
vw	=	lateral orbital wave velocity
V	=	ship forward speed
x	=	horizontal axis in direction of forward motion of ship (along length of ship); surge
×o	=	location along ship length at which moments are determined
x _s ,x _b	=	x coordinates at stern and bow ends of ship, respectively
Xw	=	longitudinal wave excitation force on ship
У	=	horizontal axis directed to starboard; sway
Y _w	=	lateral wave excitation force on ship
Z	=	vertical axis directed downwards; heave
z	=	sectional center of buoyancy, from waterline
zw.	=	vertical wave excitation force on ship
α	=	linear roll damping coefficient
αe	÷	equivalent linear roll damping coefficient for quadratic nonlinear system
β	E.	angle between wave propagation direction and ship forward motion; quadratic roll damping coefficient
Δ	==	change or additional terms in indicated quantity
δm	=	local mass
ζ _φ	=	fraction of critical roll damping
^ç ¢e	=	equivalent fraction of critical roll damping for quadratic nonlinear system

-x-

ŝ

η	=	surface wave elevation, positive upwards from undisturbed water surface
θ	=	pitch angle, positive bow-up
λ	=	wave length
ρ	=	density of water
ф	=	roll angle, positive starboard-down
^φ w	Ξ	velocity potential for incident surface waves
ψ	Ξ	yaw angle, positive bow-starboard
ω	=	circular wave frequency
^ω e	=	circular frequency of wave encounter
ωφ	=	natural roll frequency

Subscripts

.

5 -

ķ

-

h = hydrodynamic

ł

-xi-

-

SHIP STRUCTURE COMMITTEE

The SHIP STRUCTURE COMMITTEE is constituted to prosecute a research program to improve the hull structures of ships by an extension of knowledge pertaining to design, materials and methods of fabrication.

RADM W. M. Benkert, USCG (Chairman) Chief, Office of Merchant Marine Safety U.S. Coast Guard Headquarters

Mr. P. M. Palermo Asst. for Structures Naval Ship Engineering Center Naval Ship Systems Command

Mr. John L. Foley Vice President American Bureau of Shipping Mr. M. Pitkin Asst. Administrator for Commercial Development Maritime Administration

Mr. C. J. Whitestone Engineer Officer Military Sealift Command

23

SHIP STRUCTURE SUBCOMMITTEE

The SHIP STRUCTURE SUBCOMMITTEE acts for the Ship Structure Committee on technical matters by providing technical coordination for the determination of goals and objectives of the program, and by evaluating and interpreting the results in terms of ship structural design, construction and operation.

NAVAL SEA SYSTEMS COMMAND NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES SHIP RESEARCH COMMITTEE Mr. R. Johnson - Member Mr. J. B. O'Brien - Contract Administrator Mr. O. H. Oakley - Liaison Mr. C. Pohler - Member Mr. R. W. Rumke - Liaison Mr. G. Sorkin - Member SOCIETY OF NAVAL ARCHITECTS & U.S. COAST GUARD MARINE ENGINEERS LCDR T. H. Robinson - Secretary LCDR S. H. Davis - Member Mr. A. B. Stavovy - Liaison WELDING RESEARCH COUNCIL CAPT C. B. Glass - Member Dr. W. C. Dietz - Member Mr. K. H. Koopman - Liaison MARITIME ADMINISTRATION INTERNATIONAL SHIP STRUCTURES Mr. F. Dashnaw - Member CONGRESS Mr. N. Hammer - Member Prof. J. H. Evans - Liaison Mr. R. K. Kiss - Member U.S. COAST GUARD ACADEMY Mr. F. Seibold - Member CAPT W. C. Nolan - Liaison MILITARY SEALIFT COMMAND STATE UNIV. OF N.Y. MARITIME COLLEGE Mr. T. W. Chapman - Member CDR J. L. Simmons - Member Dr. W. R. Porter - Liaison Mr. A. B. Stavovy - Member AMERICAN IRON & STEEL INSTITUTE Mr. D. Stein ~ Member Mr. R. H. Sterne - Liaison AMERICAN BUREAU OF SHIPPING Mr. S. G. Stiansen - Chairman U.S. NAVAL ACADEMY Dr. H. Y. Jan - Member Mr. I. L. Stern - Member Dr. R. Bhattacharyya - Liaison U.S. MERCHANT MARINE ACADEMY Dr. Chin-Bea Kim - Liaison

INTRODUCTION

In order to determine the capabilities of model testing and computer response calculations for predicting ship loads and motions in waves, particularly for the SL-7 fast container ship, a correlation study of the results obtained by both techniques should be carried out. The objectives of such a study are:

- 1. To develop a procedure for comparing results of previous investigations that have provided model test data and computer calculations.
- 2. To carry out the data comparison, using the available information as well as related data, techniques, etc.
- 3. To analyze the results of the correlation, with the ultimate aim to determine the relative capabilities of both test methods (i.e. model tests and computer calculations) as a means of ship structural load prediction.

The basic sources of data for this study are two reports ([1] and [2]), which provide the results of a model test study of the SL-7 ship response in regular waves [1] as well as the results of computer calculations for (mathematically simulated) similar conditions [2]. The model test technique was essentially an extension of previous experimental studies (e.g. [3], [4]) at the same laboratory (i.e. Davidson Laboratory, Stevens Inst. of Tech.), with an increase in the number of variables being measured. This was due to the importance of torsion and lateral shear for a container ship, as well as an increase in the number of stations being instrumented for measurement, thereby requiring more detailed evaluation of instrument channel coupling and a digital computer for data analysis. However there were some problems encountered in regard to "controlling" the craft under certain heading conditions (e.g. stern-quartering and beam seas) as well as limitations in wave characteristics (wavelength and wave amplitude) at such headings. In addition there was also an indication of a possible error in instrumentation settings for one mode of ship motion (i.e. heave motion) that was reported in [1].

The technique used for the computer calculations in [2] was based on the theory described in [5], using the SCORES program [6] developed from that theory. This particular program has been shown (in [5] and subsequent applications) to provide good agreement between computed values of ship motions and loads and those measured in model tests. Most of the comparisons have been made for head sea operation, with an extensive amount also carried out for oblique wave headings as well. However, no previous applications of the program were made for following seas or stern-quartering seas for a fast ship, which results in low encounter frequencies for which the theory in [5] (as well as other generally available ship theory analyses) was not considered to be precisely applicable. Certain other theories,

¢.

e.g. [7], are not applied to this range of conditions since these conditions are known to limit the applicability of such theory.

Under these circumstances, the investigation report in [2] exhibited a number of conditions where there was a lack of agreement between the theory and the model test data. The regions where such differences appeared were associated with the heading conditions with low encounter frequencies (following and sternquartering seas), as well as some conditions where roll motion was significant but not properly predicted by theory due to the influence of possible nonlinear roll damping in regions near the roll resonance frequency. Since means of overcoming these basic difficulties of the theory were discussed (and illustrated to a small degree) in [2], it is recognized that still other effects may have to be considered in order to reconcile the state of agreement between the theory and the model test data. The results of comparison between theory and experiment shown in [2] were only part of the overall comparison effect devoted to that task, with other remaining test conditions evaluated but not exhibited in that report (i.e. [2]). This was due to all of the effort devoted to explaining the causes of the lack of agreement; the changes and modifications of parts of the computer program in order to "correct" the computed results for certain conditions (e.g. in following seas); and the limited extent of that investigation which did not anticipate the extent of disagreement between theory and experiment that arose because of the range of conditions covered, thereby necessitating extended analytical and computational efforts.

As a result of the work in [2], further investigations, analyses and computer programming efforts were applied by Oceanics, Inc. in the course of additional work on ship motions and loads (primarily for commercial clients) in order to overcome some of the difficulties and/or limitations of the computer analysis that were indicated in [2]. Particular procedures have been developed which allow for and correct some of the deficiencies of theory exhibited in [2], while other approaches that can be applied for that purpose have also been evolved in other applications. However none of these recent developments have been documented or published, since they have only been applied to particular problems of commercial clients, where the results obtained in the specific investigations were of major interest and there was no requirement of detailed development, reporting, documentation, etc. All such methods can be considered as extensions of the basic SCORES program, allowing application to a number of problems beyond the limits of the program and theory described in [5] and [6].

It is intended to apply these extended techniques to determine whether it is possible to obtain better agreement between theory and model experiment, as well as to determine the "sensitivity" of computed results to certain changes in input data, theoretical models for hydrodynamic forces, etc. The results will provide a measure of the range of magnitudes possible from theoretical (and computer simulated) mathematical models, thereby establishing a measure of deviation or reliability of computer predictions of ship motions and loads. The possible deviation of experimental data will be determined via the use of error bands indicated by the experimental reliability limits provided in [1], together with estimates of other possible extraneous effects associated with the measuring instruments, data processing procedures, experimental restraints imposed on the model, etc. A method of establishing the differences between theory and experiment will evolve from this type of analysis, together with an evaluation of the effect of such differences in predicting statistical measures of ship loads in an irregular seaway. The details and description of the procedures that are employed, as well as the results obtained, in this comparison and correlation effort are provided in the following sections of this report.

GENERAL OUTLINE OF TECHNIQUES USED IN STUDY

The particular items that are considered and analyzed for both the computer prediction procedure as well as the experimental measurements via model tests are described below. These varied elements are examined in detail in the present study, with their results contributing to a more complete assessment of data correlation for the two methods of ship load prediction.

1. Computer Prediction Analysis

In evaluating the capability of computer predictions of ship motions and loads, the influence of a number of phenomena and procedures that could modify the results is directly determined. It is important to ascertain the "sensitivity" of computer results to different computational techniques, input data, theoretical models of hydrodynamic forces, effect of other degrees of freedom, nonlinearities, etc., in order to determine the influence on the resulting output data. A description of some of these different elements that could influence the computer results is given by the following discussion.

a) Input Data

--- - -- -

-- --

One possible influence on the results for the wave-induced loads is the effect of the various mass and inertial properties distributed over the ship sections. In order to correlate model tests and computer predictions, these mass and inertial values used in the computer simulation should correspond exactly to those used in the model tests. An outline of the procedure used to obtain this equivalence was given in [2], where the overall characteristics for the 3 model segments were satisfied, using a distribution of mass (and inertia) that would yield the desired equivalence. However it is known that the particular distribution

is not unique, and other possible mass distributions that could still satisfy the overall mass and inertia properties of the model segments can also be established. This is done for another similar mass distribution (other than that used in the work reported in [2]), which still satisfies the overall mass-inertial properties of the ship model, in order to evaluate the influence on the resulting ship loads. This will verify whether the requirements of the overall massinertial properties is sufficient, or if more extensive detailed mass input information must be used whenever attempting to obtain a more precise estimate of wave-induced ship loads.

b) Hydrodynamic Theory for Sectional Forces

The techniques used in [5] for evaluating the twodimensional sectional added mass and damping is based on the use of the Lewis form mapping procedure [8]. While the general shape of the ship sections for the SL-7 does not seem to deviate from the general ship forms for which this procedure is applicable, it should be determined whether a different hydrodynamic representation for the sectional added mass and damping could influence the final results obtained from computer prediction methods. The present study also makes use of the Frank Close-Fit technique [9] as the method for the hydrodynamic coefficients used in the program of [6], replacing the use of the Lewis form technique. Results are obtained using the basic theory and program, with this alternate method of representing the sectional hydrodynamic forces. These results are then compared for a number of cases, using both procedures for these hydrodynamic terms, in order to evaluate possible differences in the final output values for motions and loads, thereby providing a measure of the dependence of the output from a computer prediction technique on the nature of the detailed hydrodynamics.

c) Illustration of Results for Similar Ships

In order to provide further validity of the computer prediction technique, results obtained for other ship forms by Oceanics, Inc. in the course of certain applications for commercial clients will also be presented. The comparison between theoretical values obtained from the computer program in [6] with model test data for these cases is presented as a means of providing further validation for the procedure. The particular craft chosen for this purpose are ship forms that are generally similar to that of the SL-7 i.e. high-speed fine shape hulls.

d) Effect of Neglected Coefficients in Equation System

The mathematical theory presented in [5] differs somewhat from that given in [7], mainly due to certain speed-dependent terms that enter into the definition of some of the coefficients. Some consideration of the influence of these terms was given in [2], although the results of the computations with and without

4

these terms were not presented in detail in that report (only the conclusions mentioned). A detailed comparison of the influence of these additional terms, as part of an extended strip theory modification of the basic SCORES analysis [5], is provided for a larger number of cases in order to judge the dependence of the computer results on such differences in coefficient definition.

e) Presentation of Complete Test Condition Results

While all of the test conditions reported in [1] were evaluated by means of computer simulation in the work of [2], not all of the results were reported in graphical form in [2]. The present study will provide the computational results for all test conditions (together with comparison with model data), thereby providing a larger data base for use of the correlation study.

f) Influence of Rudder Deflection

The effects of rudder deflection on various lateral loads and ship roll motion were exhibited in [1], and computations to remove the influence of the rudder from the measured results were made in the course of the work reported in [2]. This would then allow a direct comparison between theory and computer evaluation and the model test results since the basic theory did not incorporate the influence of the rudder. More extensive information on the exact measurements, phase relations, etc. that were obtained at the Davidson Laboratory work have been provided, beyond the information given in [1], so that a more precise evaluation can be made of the influence of the rudder in the comparison and correlation work.

g) Effect of Surge Motion

. . .

- ----

While the steady state surge displacement has been considered in the evaluation of the output data reported in [1], it must also be recognized that there is an oscillatory response of surge that is induced by waves. Inclusion of the surge degree of freedom in regard to its coupling with the vertical plane motions of heave and pitch, as well as the influence of this additional degree of freedom on the vertical plane loads, must also be determined. Oceanics has developed an extension of the SCORES program that includes this additional degree of freedom in surge, and an evaluation of its influence on the results obtained in the SL-7 investigation is made as part of the present study. This will serve to illustrate the influence of the response due to this degree of freedom, which as been previously neglected in most ship motion theoretical analyses.

h) Effect of Low Encounter Frequency

One of the major areas of disagreement indicated in [2] was in following and stern-quartering seas, where low encounter frequency occurred. In [2] some discussion was presented that indicated an improper influence of the vertical added mass terms on the structural load responses. A more detailed analysis of the various contributory terms entering into the evaluation of vertical shear and vertical bending moments is necessary, for a number of cases where this low-frequency influence is manifested by the original theory. This provides a basis for judging where the major terms arise, and whether there is a consistent influence expected in accordance with basic principles of hydrodynamics and mechanics. The results discussed in [2] were not illustrated in that report, but are provided in the present report. Analyses and proposed theoretical approaches are presented, together with results of computations, in order to provide a more valid representation of the low-frequency range associated with following and stern-quartering seas.

i) Nonlinear Roll Effect

The analysis in [2] indicated that the calm water roll decay of the SL-7 ship model was represented by a damping that had both a linear and nonlinear (i.e. quadratic) term. However an assumed constant linear damping value was used throughout the computations in [2] for both loading conditions, since that was the state of the art for the SCORES program (see [5] and [6]). Techniques have been developed by Oceanics, Inc. in order to calculate the response in roll (as well as those coupled with roll) when nonlinear damping of this type is present for both regular waves, where the responses are then dependent on the amplitudes of the particular waves, as well as in the case of irregular seas in determining statistical responses (rms, etc.) in different sea states (see [10]-[12]).

Applications are made with this method in order to determine the roll response, as well as the related lateral plane loads, for the particular ship damping characteristics presented in [1]. In addition, computations to determine the sensitivity of computed results to values of roll damping are also presented.

2. Model Test Data

A number of possible effects on the model data have been indicated in [1]. The range of precision of the data presented in [1] is indicated in that report, so that a basis of assessing the extent of agreement between theory and experiment can be related to that information. The particular elements affecting the model test data, that can affect the correlation, are described below.

-6-

a) Measurement Precision

As indicated above, and in [1], the estimates of measurement precision can be used to establish a possible "band" of values on both sides of the data presented in [1]. This "spread" of values can be used as a basis of judgment of the degree of correlation between theory and experiment, as an initial step.

In addition consideration of the effects of certain measurement errors, based on the magnitude of the "ideal" measured value of test input condition such as the wave characteristics, is also presented.

b) Rudder Influence

A discussion of the rudder influence on the test data has been given in [1], and procedures for extracting that influence from the overall measured values have been indicated in [1], [2] and also in the discussion of item(1f) in this section of the report. The method of allowing for the rudder effects is directly applied to the data, resulting in a set of results that are used for direct comparison of the "pure ship" responses, as obtained from theory and model test.

c) Effect of Leeway Angle

The influence of this angular difference between desired and attained heading angle relative to the waves (i.e. leeway angle) cannot be directly discussed from the measured data. However, an estimate of the effects of such a difference on the various motion and load responses is obtained via theoretical computations in order to illustrate the possible extent of the leeway angle influence.

d) Effect of Roll Constraint and Model Directional Stability

One of the problems indicated in [1] that affect the behavior of the SL-7 model was the difficulty in maintaining proper control of the ship heading and the resulting heel orientation. Such problems were present throughout the test program reported in [1], and the effects of such control problems on the measured data is examined in order to evaluate the resulting influence on the range of measured data presented there.

3. Data Correlation Analysis

.

The various possible influences of the elements described above, for both the computer evaluation and the model test method, indicate the extent of variation possible in each procedure due to each of the separate items. It is generally expected that the aim is to find as much <u>consistent</u> agreement between both procedures as possible in order to validate the theory as a

prediction tool. The possible differences between model and full-scale responses are assessed in the light of what possible effect should then be introduced in the computer model and theory in order to achieve prediction of full-scale values by that method. This is evolved in the course of the analysis when determining the effects of the various elements outlined above.

In regard to the correlation of the results themselves, the relative error between values obtained by both procedures must be determined and compared to the possible precision error bands. The important measure of any frequency response data, whether from model test or computer calculations, is the evaluation of response statistics. Thus evaluation of such rms responses are made for a series of known wave spectra, using ship response characteristics obtained from computer results and those from model test data. These results are compared, and also compared to the values obtained from the model test data when considering the extremes of data indicated by the error bands. The relative differences in this case are used as a means of assessing the prediction capabilities of either method for estimation of ship loads. The particular level of deviation that can be tolerated under such conditions will ultimately have to be evaluated from the results of relative levels of deviation indicated by fullscale measurements of ships at sea, including possible full-scale SL-7 data also, for different conditions.

The results obtained from such an analysis will indicate the capabilities of the two methods as possible means of prediction of full-scale ship loads, with some measure of a deviation allowance that can be tolerated in practice for such predictions, with such predictions, with such final conclusions based upon consideration of extensive full-scale data as well. In addition, another result of the present study is an extension of the SCORES computer program that will allow for various phenomena not considered previously in its initial development, and which can overcome the deficiencies of that program in a number of conditions that have been indicated to require such extension in modifications, as illustrated for example in the results of [2]. The utility of such a tool will probably increase as faster and longer ships evolve, which require evaluation of more extensive operating conditions, required load responses important for particular designs, etc.

SHIP CHARACTERISTICS USED IN STUDY

The basic SL-7 ship has certain loading specifications that apply to its operation, which are described as the "heavy" and "light" loading conditions. These basic characteristics are described below in Table 1. Using the data provided in [1] the distribution of loading over the 20 stations representing the ship was established in order to apply the basic computer program of [6]. These values, which are the same as those used in [2], are given for the two load conditions in Tables 2 and 3. They correspond to the full-scale equivalents of the model tested in [1], in order to reproduce the "achieved characteristics indicated for the model in [1].

TABLE 1

SHIP CHARACTERISTICS

Length:	Overall		946.6	ft. (288.518	m.)
Length:	Between	Perpendiculars	880.5	ft. (268.376	m.)
Breadth:	Maximum		105.5	ft.	(32.156	m.)
Load Designatic (for purposes of t	on this study	"HEAVY")		11	LIGHT"	
Load Designatic Specified	on:	Normal Full 1 (Departure)	Normal Full Load (Departure)		Initial Part Load (Departure)	
Draft at LCF		32.6 ft.(9.9	5m.)	29.1	ft.(8.86	5 m.)
Trim, by stern		0.14 ft.(42 m	0.14 ft.(42 mm)		1.83 ft.(.56 m.)	
LCG Aft of mids	ship	38.6 ft.(11.	75 m.)	37.5	ft.(11.4	42 m.)
VCG Above base]	Line	41.7 ft.(12.	70 m.)	39.8	ft.(12.2	L4 m.)
GM _t		3.30 ft.(1.0)0 m.)	5.79	ft.(1.7	76 m.)
GM _t Corrected f	for free	2.63 ft.(0.	30 m.)	5.32	2 ft.(1.0	52 m.)
Displacement		47686 L.T (48400 M.T	.)	41 (41	.367 L.T. 900 M.T.	.)

_

.

.

TABLE 2

Weight Properties of the SL-7 (Heavy) used in the Computer Program

<u>Station</u>	Weight, ¹ (long tons)	Vertical center ² of gravity, ft.	K _{xx} , ft.
0(FP)	435.19	- 2.0116	23.8
1	900.40	9.0734	25.3
2	1110.55	9.0884	24.9
3	1304.96	-15.5416	35.5
4	1625.78	-10.3496	32.9
5	1973.79	- 5.5316	33.7
6	2323.47	- 4.5676	35.0
7	2709.73	3.3524	35.4
8	3024.64	4.2684	39.0
9	3420.21	5.0194	39.9
10	3421.71	7.4784	38.7
11	3206.49	10.8954	39.7
12	3776.005	7.8594	40.7
13	3526.57	- 2.5356	45.6
14	2837.96	- 2.0016	42.5
15	2893.305	- 1.8436	39.3
16	2491.125	- 5.7896	37.2
17	2056.03	- 7.9736	34.3
18	1758.175	- 8.8426	33.5
19	1888.51	- 7.6116	32.5
20(AP)	1075.395	- 6.8986	23.61

1

The ship is divided into 20 segments of 44.025 ft. lengths. The weight at each station is assumed to be uniformly distributed over the segment and centered at the station.

2

The vertical center of gravity of each element is measured, positive downward, with respect to the ship's overall VCG.

TABLE 3

Station	Weight, ¹ (long tons)	Vertical Center ² of gravity, ft	K _{xx} , ft.
0	358.465	- 3.2944	24.90
1	866.42	6.3056	25.26
2	1072.305	7.2256	25.30
3	1229.20	- 9.8944	35.40
4	1273.11	-10.5944	33.50
5	1561.22	- 8.2844	33.20
6	1931.51	- 6.5944	33.60
7	2298.655	5,3056	32.92
8	2613.37	4.5056	35.09
9	2827.715	5.9056	36.33
10	2804.37	7.1056	36.84
11	2671.77	8.6056	37.00
12	3479.65	5.3056	38.65
13	3462.25	- 4.5944	45.50
14	2830.20	- 2.9944	42.57
15	2811.80	- 1.7944	37.90
16	2117.15	- 4.5944	36.98
17	1467.80	- 6.7944	35.64
18	1158.815	- 2.1544	34.10
19	1514.62	7944	32.00
20	1072.505	- 9.2944	23.00

Weight Properties of the SL-7 (Light) used in the Computer Program

1

The ship is divided into 20 segments of 44.025 ft. lengths. The weight at each station is assumed to be uniformly distributed over the segment and centered at the station.

2

-

...

• ----- •

The vertical center of gravity of each element is measured, positive downward, with respect to the ship's overall VCG.

.

RESULTS OF COMPUTATIONS WITH SCORES PROGRAM

A number of computations were carried out using the original SCORES program of [6] in order to determine the effects of various phenomena, computation techniques, etc., that were listed and discussed previously. The results of these computations are described in the following sections.

1. Effect of Weight Distribution

The particular weight distributions established for the present study are listed in Tables 2 and 3, and a number of small variations and their effects were evaluated as well, with the general conclusions presented here. It was found that the effect of the weight distribution used, as long as it was fairly close to the achieved conditions in the model test, produced negligible differences in the computed magnitudes of ship loads and motions. The only significant difference found was that very small changes in the final distribution given in Tables 2 and 3, primarily for the vertical center of gravity of each element, resulted in a more satisfactory "closure condition" check for the torsional bending moment, i.e. the requirement of a zero (or very close to zero) value of torsion at the ship ends. Otherwise the values for all of the loads, including torsions, were negligibly affected.

2. Effect of Sectional Force Representation

As mentioned previously, the method of representing the hydrodynamic forces, i.e. sectional added mass and damping, used in [6] was based upon the Lewis form method. Computations were then carried out with the basic program, but utilizing the hydrodynamic coefficients obtained from the Frank Close-Fit technique of [9], which evaluates the added mass and damping of two-dimensional ship sections due to heave, sway, and roll motions of the section. These expressions were used in determining the resultant coefficients of the equations of motion as well as in the wave excitation terms, as required by the method of [5] and [6], leading to the resulting values of ship motions and loads. Comparison of these results with the results obtained in [2], which made use of the Lewis form sectional forces, showed differences of the order of 1-2% at most for all cases. Thus, there does not appear to be any significant difference in the results, for this particular ship, when using the alternative method of representing sectional hydrodynamic forces in conjunction with the basic program of [6].

3. Effect of Surge Motion

The effect of surge motion has been neglected in the analysis of [5], and is also not treated in the work of [7]. However, the model tests in [1] were carried out with the model free to surge, so it is necessary to evaluate the possible influence of this additional degree of freedom on the ship motions and the resulting wave loads. Surge motion is coupled to the vertical plane equations of heave and pitch, following closely the approach taken in [13], by the equations

$$a_{11}\ddot{x} + a_{12}\dot{x} + a_{17}\ddot{\theta} + a_{18}\dot{\theta} = x_{W}$$
 (1)

$$a'\ddot{z} + b\dot{z} + c'z - d\ddot{\theta} - e\dot{\theta} - g'\theta = Z_{W}$$
(2)

$$a_{31}\ddot{x} + z_{32}\dot{x} + (A + a_{31}\overline{GB})\ddot{\theta} + (B + a_{32}\overline{GB})\dot{\theta}$$

$$+ C\theta - D\ddot{z} - E\dot{z} - G'z = M_{W} + \int_{X_{S}}^{X_{b}} \left(\frac{dX_{W}}{dx}\right) (z + \overline{OG}) dx$$
(3)

where x is surge, positive forward, and a_{11} , a_{12} , a_{17} , a_{18} , a_{31} , a_{32} , X_w , etc. are new terms (defined below) as compared to the original SCORES theory derived in [5]. The surge motion does not couple into the heave equation and, by symmetry, does not couple into the lateral motions. There is only coupling between roll and sway in the lateral plane. The new coefficients in Equations (1) and (3) are as follows:

$$a_{11} = m (1+k_{1})$$

$$a_{12} = \left(\frac{dR_{T}}{dV}\right)_{V=V_{O}} + \int_{x_{S}}^{x_{D}} N_{x}^{*} dx$$

$$a_{17} = k_{1}^{m} \overline{GB}$$

$$a_{18} = a_{12} \overline{GB}$$

$$a_{31} = a_{17}$$

$$a_{32} = a_{18}$$
(4)

where

k_l = longitudinal added mass coefficient
N' = local sectional longitudinal damping
coefficient

$$\overline{GB} = \overline{KG} - \overline{KB}$$

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{dR}_{\mathrm{T}}}{\mathrm{dV}}\right)_{\mathrm{V}=\mathrm{V}_{\mathrm{O}}}$$

. .

.

= total resistance variation at speed V_{O} (mean ship speed)

...

- - - -

The longitudinal wave excitation is defined as follows:

$$x_{w} = \int_{x_{s}}^{x_{b}} \frac{dx_{w}}{dx} dx$$
(5)

where

which leads to

 $\frac{dx}{dx} = -\rho a kg e^{-kh} \cos\beta S(x) \cos(-kx\cos\beta + \omega_e t)$ (6)

The longitudinal added inertia coefficient is estimated from hydrodynamic potential flow theory (e.g. [14] in terms of the ship dimensions (length and beam). The term $\begin{pmatrix} dR_T \\ \overline{dV} \end{pmatrix}_{V=V_O}$

represents the total resistance variation evaluated at the ship speed V_O , which is the derivative with respect to speed of the total ship resistance curve and thus contributes to surge damping.

The surge damping term a_{12} includes the small axial wave damping contribution in addition to the total resistance variation. It is derived on the basis of an "expanding" two-dimensional section, where the expansion is proportional to dB*/dx, the longitudinal rate of change of the ship local beam. The two-dimensional section damping form used is that derived in [15], which is based on thin-ship theory. The local damping term is

 $N_{x}^{\dagger} = \rho \omega_{e} \left(\frac{dB^{\star}}{dx}\right)^{2} \int_{0}^{H} F(\xi) e^{-\omega_{e}^{2} \xi/g} d\xi$ (7)

-14-

where H = local sectional draft

 $F(\xi) =$ equivalent Haskind form $= 1 - \frac{\xi}{H}^n$

and n is determined so that the Haskind form has the same area coefficient as the local section.

The terms in the heave and pitch equations of motion, which are derived in [5], are given below as:

$$a' = m + \int A_{33}^{i} dx, \quad b = \int N_{z}^{i} dx - V \int d(A_{33}^{i})$$

$$c' = \rho g \int B^{*} dx, \quad d = D = \int A_{33}^{i} x dx$$

$$e = \int N_{z}^{i} x dx - 2V \int A_{33}^{i} dx - V \int x d(A_{33}^{i})$$

$$g' = \rho g \int B^{*} x dx - V b, \quad A = I_{y} + \int A_{33}^{i} x^{2} dx$$

$$B = \int N_{z}^{i} x^{2} dx - 2V \int A_{33}^{i} x dx - V \int x^{2} d(A_{33}^{i})$$

$$c = \rho g \int B^{*} x dx - V E, \quad E = \int N_{z}^{i} x dx - V \int x d(A_{33}^{i})$$

$$g' = \rho g \int B^{*} x dx$$

where all the indicated integrations are over the length of the ship. The wave-excitation terms, the right hand sides of Eq. (2) and (3), are given by:

$$Z_{W} = \int_{x_{S}}^{x_{b}} \frac{dZ_{W}}{dx} dx$$
(8)
$$M_{W} = \int_{x_{S}}^{x_{b}} \frac{dZ_{W}}{dx} xdx$$
(9)

where the local sectional vertical wave force acting on the ship section is represented by

$$\frac{d\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{W}}}{d\mathbf{x}} = -\left[\rho g \mathbf{B}^{*} \eta + \left(\mathbf{N}^{*} - \mathbf{V} \frac{d\mathbf{A}_{33}^{*}}{d\mathbf{x}}\right)^{*} + \mathbf{A}_{33}^{*} \eta\right] e^{-k \tilde{h}}$$
(10)

where \bar{h} = mean section draft and $\eta(x,t)$ is the wave surface elevations at the CG reference location.

The various hydrodynamic and related terms entering these equations are defined by

-15-

.. .

----- -- -- -- -- ---

 ρ = density of water

 A'_{33} = local sectional vertical added mass N'_z = local sectional vertical damping force coefficient

B* = local waterline beam

The wave-induced vertical bending moment at the position x_0 along the ship, including the effects of surge, is given by

$$BM_{z}(x_{o}) = \left[\int_{x_{o}}^{x_{o}} \operatorname{or} \int_{x_{o}}^{x_{b}} \right] \left\{ (x - x_{o}) \frac{df_{z}}{dx} - (\overline{z} + \overline{0}\overline{G}) - \delta m \cdot \overline{x} + \left[\frac{dx_{h}}{dx} + \frac{dx_{w}}{dx} \right] \right\} dx$$

$$(11)$$

in terms of the local vertical loading $\frac{df_z}{dx}$ defined in [5]. The quantity $\frac{dX_h}{dx}$ is the differential hydrodynamic surge force determined from the terms defined in Eq. (1) and (4).

Computations were carried out to determine the motions and loads of the SL-7 with the linear surge equation (and its contribution to loads) included in the mathematical model. The results obtained from these calculations, over a range of different operating conditions, showed negligible differences from the results obtained with surge neglected (at most only about 1-2% difference). Thus the influence of surge is not a significant factor on the magnitude of the resulting ship loads, reinforcing the method of [5] which does not include that degree of freedom while still exhibiting good agreement with model test data.

4. Effect of Rudder Deflection

Since there is presently no representation of rudder forces (and their effect) per se in the SCORES program, no direct evaluation of the effect of rudder deflection can be provided from computer calculations. It would also be necessary to know the actual rudder deflections (which are provided in the model test results of [1]) for any full-scale estimation by computational means, as well as a method of representing the actual model forces properly. However the model test data indicated in [1], as well as the analysis of the special tests conducted in [1] for evaluating rudder influence, indicated an influence of the order of 20% of the peak lateral and torsional moment and lateral shears that may be attributed to rudder action. The significance of this level of influence, which is also associated with the rolling motion of the ship, will be considered in a later section of the report.

5. Investigation of Wave-Excitation Forces

While it has been shown previously that there is no influence on the SL-7 motions and loads due to the different representations of the sectional hydrodynamic forces, which represent the dynamical coefficients of the different state variables (i.e. motion displacements, velocities, etc.) in the motion equations, the question of the adequate representation of the wave-excitation forces by the theoretical methods in [5] and [6] was also considered. For the case of head seas the basic method used for determining the vertical force and pitch moment due to waves for a restrained model of a Series 60 form had been previously compared with model test data in [16]. In that case good agreement was shown, lending validity to the basic approach used in the SCORES program. However a number of other operating conditions corresponding to different headings relative to the waves, and also considering other wave-excitation forces besides the vertical force and pitching moment, were investigated in the present study in order to determine the utility of the methods used in the SCORES program [6].

Computations were carried out for a Series 60_{π} CB = 0.60 model at various headings with respect to the waves, which considered the wave-excitation forces in all modes of motion, and comparison was made with model test data. For the case of zero speed the results of the comparison with the data of [17] were quite good, with close agreement for all cases analyzed over the range of headings. However, there were some differences that occurred when the models had forward speed (when comparing with the data of [18]), even for the case of vertical force and pitch moment which were analyzed exactly in the same way as the head-sea case but using the appropriate wave properties corresponding to the particular ship heading. The extent of the lack of agreement was not significant, and was primarily for short wavelengths, considering the difficulties inherent in making such measurements for restrained models when running at forward speed and covering larger frequencies of encounter. Nevertheless this comparison indicated a sufficiently consistent method of calculating the various wave-excitation forces required for conventional hydrodynamic ship motion analysis. The successful correlation for a Series 60 model, in regard to loads (and motions) in [5], covering a range of headings and modes of response, also tends to support that conclusion.

EXTENDED SCORES THEORY AND RESULTS OF COMPARISON WITH MODEL DATA

As indicated in [2], and also known in various articles concerned with ship motion theories, the equations in [7] differ somewhat from those used in [5] by virtue of certain speeddependent coefficient terms that reflect aspects of symmetry between coefficients which are dictated by the theoretical results of [19]. In a number of cases considered in the past, primarily for ships of Series 60 form, the results of the theories of [5]

.

and [7] showed good agreement with model experimental data. However, due to the high speed for the present SL-7 ship, the effects of forward speed in modifying the coefficients may be significant and could possibly account for some of the differences between theory and experiment. In addition the form of the wave-excitation forces expressed in [7] is also somewhat different from that used in [5], reflecting the influence of forward speed primarily, so that an extended theoretical model that could include some of these effects was considered necessary for purposes of computation and comparison with the SL-7 data. A description of this extended theory, as well as the results of computations and comparison with the SL-7 model data of [1], are given in the following sections.

1. Theoretical Model

Some consideration of an extended theoretical ship motion model has been given in the work of [20], with specific application to a large high-speed container ship, as well as the case of a general representation of hydrodynamic forces (in the vertical plane) in [21] for purposes of comparison with coefficients in the equations of motion obtained from forced oscillation tests.

The basic form of the equations in [5] was based upon an application of slender body theory which was given in [22], where major consideration was given to the inertial hydrodynamic force on a ship section. To this result was added the representation of a damping force, accounting for free surface wave dissipation, in terms of the relative velocity. For the case of vertical plane motion (heave and pitch), the basic equation for the sectional vertical force which includes the hydrodynamic inertial and damping effects, was given in [5] by

$$\frac{dz_{h}}{dx} = -\frac{D}{Dt} \left[A'_{33} (\dot{z} - x\dot{\theta} + V\theta) \right] - N'_{z} (\dot{z} - x\dot{\theta} + V\theta) \quad (12)$$

where A'_{33} = local sectional vertical added mass N'_{2} = local sectional vertical damping force coefficient

and the hydrostatic force representation is deleted.

The extended theory accounts for the fluid momentum effects of both inertial and damping nature by the expression

$$\frac{dz_{h}}{dx} = -\frac{D}{Dt} \left[\left(A_{33}^{\dagger} + \frac{N_{z}^{\dagger}}{i\omega_{e}} \right) (\dot{z} - x\dot{\theta} + V\theta) \right]$$
(13)

-18-

where it is assumed that all motions are of the form $e^{i\omega_e t}$, with ω_e the frequency of encounter. This expression yields the same results as the original SCORES theory development in [5], together with additional terms (for dZ/dx) which are

$$V \frac{dN'_z}{dx} \left(z - x\theta - \frac{V}{\omega_e^2} \dot{\theta} \right) - N_z^* V \theta$$
 (14)

These terms can also be expressed in a different manner, e.g.

$$V \frac{dN'_x}{dx} z = - \frac{V}{\omega_o^2} \frac{dN'_x}{dx} \ddot{z}$$
(15)

so that the equivalence between the resulting expressions in this extended theory and those in [7] can be seen.

In a similar manner the vertical wave-excitation force on a section is obtained, by use of the relative motion concept relating wave motion and ship-motion characteristics, in the form

$$\frac{dz_{w}}{dx} = -\frac{D}{Dt} \left[\left(A_{33}' + \frac{N_{z}'}{i\omega_{e}} \right) \hat{\eta} \right] e^{-k\tilde{h}} - \rho g B * \eta e^{-k\tilde{h}}$$
(16)

This expression for wave-excitation force then becomes

$$\frac{dz_{w}}{dx} = -\left[\left(\rho gB^{*} - \frac{\omega}{\omega_{e}} V \frac{dN'_{z}}{dx}\right)\eta + \left(N'_{z} \frac{\omega}{\omega_{e}} - V \frac{dA'_{33}}{dx}\right)\eta + \left(A'_{33} \frac{\omega}{\omega_{e}} - V \frac{dA'_{33}}{dx}\right)\eta\right]$$

$$+ A'_{33} \eta e^{-k\bar{h}}$$
(17)

where ω is the wave frequency (rad./sec.). Thus it can be seen that there are some modifications to the wave-excitation forces also in the extended theory representation, with all results (for both wave-excitation and hydrodynamic coefficients) being the same for zero forward speed (V=0). The major differences in approach in the various theories are due to forward speed, with greater effects anticipated for larger speed conditions, which are present for the SL-7 ship.

For the case of lateral plane motions, there are similar type additional terms, and further simplifications have been found due to the equivalence of certain two-dimensional hydrodynamic coefficients. The coefficient relations, in terms of the notation of [5], are

--- -

. -----

$$F_{rs} = M_{s\phi}$$
 , $N_{rs} = N_{s\phi}$ (18)

which relate roll and sway added mass and damping coupling coefficients. The additional terms in the lateral sectional hydrodynamic force are given by

$$\Delta \frac{dY}{dx} = N_{\rm s} V \psi - V \frac{dN_{\rm rs}}{dx} \phi + V \frac{dN_{\rm s}}{dx} (y + x\psi + \frac{V}{\omega_{\rm e}^2} \dot{\psi})$$
(19)

For the sectional roll moment, the additional terms are

$$\Delta \frac{dK}{dx} = V \frac{dN_{r}}{dx} \phi - N_{rs} V \psi - V \frac{dN_{rs}}{dx} (y + x\psi + \frac{V}{\omega_{c}^{2}} \dot{\psi}) - \overline{OG} (\Delta \frac{dY}{dx})$$
(20)

By the same procedures there are also changes in the local sectional wave-excitation forces, which are given by

$$\frac{dY_{w}}{dx} = \left[\left(\rho S + M_{s}\right) \frac{Dv_{w}}{Dt} - Vv_{w} \frac{dM_{s}}{dx} + k - F_{rs} \frac{Dv_{w}}{Dt} + V \frac{dF_{rs}}{dx} v_{w} + \frac{\omega}{\omega_{e}} N_{s} v_{w} + \frac{V}{\omega \omega_{e}} \frac{dN_{s}}{dx} \frac{Dv_{w}}{Dt} \right] \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi B^{*}}{\lambda} \sin\beta\right)}{\frac{\pi B^{*}}{\lambda} \sin\beta}$$
(21)

for the lateral sectional wave force, and by

7--

$$\frac{dK_{w}}{dx} = \left[-\frac{D}{Dt} (F_{rs} v_{w}) + \rho \left(\frac{B^{\star 3}}{12} - S\overline{z} \right) \frac{Dv_{w}}{Dt} - \frac{\omega}{\omega_{e}} N_{rs} v_{w} - \frac{V}{\omega \omega_{e}} \frac{dN_{rs}}{dx} \frac{Dv_{w}}{Dt} \right] \frac{\sin \left(\frac{\pi B^{\star}}{\lambda} \sin \beta \right)}{\frac{\pi B^{\star}}{\lambda} \sin \beta} - \overline{OG} \frac{dY_{w}}{dx}$$
(22)

for the sectional wave roll moment, where $\boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{W}}$ is the lateral wave orbital velocity.

All of the above expressions are combined with the previous expressions in [5], for the hydrodynamic forces due to motions, in order to establish the new coefficients in the equations of motion by integration, with sectional pitch and yaw moments given by

-20-

$$\frac{dM}{dx} = -x\frac{dZ}{dx} , \frac{dN}{dx} = x\frac{dY}{dx}$$
(23)

The new expressions for sectional wave-excitation forces, and the pitch and yaw wave moments obtained by similar expressions as in Eq. (23), are integrated to obtain the total waveexcitation forces and moments for the equations of motion. The new sectional forces are used in determining the loads (shears and bending moments) in the same manner as in [5].

2. Results of Computations and Comparisons for SL-7

The comparisons between the model test data of [1] and the calculated results, using the extended SCORES theory described above, are made on the basis of the sign conventions used in [1]. In that case the transfer functions, in the form of amplitude and phase, are given with the amplitude of a particular response referred to the tested wave amplitude (i.e. response per unit wave amplitude) and the phases are all referred to that of the midship vertical bending moment. The midship vertical bending moment per se has its phase referred to the wave elevation at the ship CG location, so that all relations between phases were reconciled in this manner.

The computations were initially carried out with estimated values of the critical damping ratio ζ_{ϕ} , where $\zeta_{\phi} = 0.10$ for the light displacement configuration and $\zeta_{\phi} = 0.09$ for the heavy displacement configuration. These values were assumed to be applicable over the entire speed range of the SL-7, and are the same as those used in the original theoretical study of [2]. Further consideration of the influence of roll damping on various responses is discussed in later sections of this report.

The particular variables that are compared and considered separately for the vertical plane responses and lateral plane responses are listed below. The vertical plane responses are the pitch motion; the vertical shear and vertical bending moment at midship; and the vertical shear and vertical bending moment at Frame 258. For the lateral plane the variables responses compared are the roll angle; lateral shear and lateral bending moment at midship; lateral shear and lateral bending moment at Frame 258; the torsional moment at midship; and the torsional moment at Frame 258. The comparisons are given for all of these responses (if model test data are available) for the entire range of headings tested in [1], extending from head through following seas. Separate presentation and discussions are given for the vertical and lateral plane responses in the following, in accordance with the procedures described here.

2.1 Vertical Plane Responses

--

.. . . .

The comparison between theory and experiment is presented for each heading, with the responses arranged in the form of pitch motion, vertical bending moment and vertical shear for each heading. Data and computational results for both the heavy and light displacement conditions are shown together on the same

··· ---- -- --

.... .

graph for the same operating speed and heading conditions. The heading angles are 180° (head seas); 210° and 240° (bow seas); 60° and 30° (quartering seas); and 0° (following seas). No model test data were obtained for beam seas (90° heading) because the wave heights to be generated were considered too small for reliability of data, so no comparison is presented for that heading. The comparison for the vertical plane responses, as given in Figures 1-30, shows a significant improvement relative to those given in [2]. The pitch motion comparison is quite good, which is similar to the case in [2], while the agreement between theory and experiment for the vertical bending moment and shears shows a decided improvement relative to the results of [2].

The midship vertical bending moment for the head-sea case shows differences of the order of 10-15% in the region of the largest magnitudes, while the most significant improvement between theory and experiment for the vertical bending moment (relative to that shown in [2]) is shown by the results for following seas (0° heading). Any significant deviation for vertical bending moment, for the case of head and bow seas, seems to occur for shorter wavelengths, and in general the degree of agreement between theory and experiment for this range of headings may be considered to be almost as good as that exhibited in [5], which was the basis for demonstration of the utility of the original SCORES program.

The loads comparison in following seas is still not as good as what may be desired for verification of a theory, although the results for the quartering-sea cases are fairly acceptable. As mentioned previously in this report, and also in [2], the effects of low frequency of encounter, which represent the conditions for following seas and also some of the quartering-sea cases, may possibly influence the degree of comparison due to the limits of applicability of the basic strip theory used in the present computations. Some further discussion of these effects, and possible ways of overcoming them, are given in a later section of this report.

2.2 Lateral Plane Responses

.

For the lateral plane responses, the comparison between theory and experiment is also presented for each heading, with the responses arranged in the form of roll angle, lateral bending moment, lateral shear, and torsional moment. Since the theory indicates zero response for pure-head and following seas and the model data are invalid because of heel and roll restraint, no consideration is given to those headings, and similarily for the beam-sea case since no model data were obtained for that condition.

For the case of bow seas (headings of 210° and 240°) the agreement between theory and experiment for the various loads (since no roll response data were presented) shown in Figures 31-42 is generally good for lateral bending moment and shear. The

-22-


-23-

1

:





-24-

Т

FIGURE 4 - Midship vertical shear and phase lag, 180° heading



2

-25-

ł

1

i.



210° heading

-



phase lag, 210° heading

C1

~

-27-

÷

1

1

1

.



.

moment and phase lag, 240° heading



1 1

-29-

1

:



phase lag, 240° heading

-30-

FIGURE 16 - Pitch and phase lag, 60⁰ heading



. .

4

÷

÷

1 \sim



4

,

-32-



a.

11

-33-

i

. i



moments and phase lag, 30° heading

.

•

-34-

lag, 30° heading



phase lag, 30° heading



э

μ 35-

.

.



)

.

-



1.0

.

÷



.

e i



1

د



A *

2

-39-



210° heading

moments and phase lag 210° heading

•. 2

-40-

1

÷.



4..

1--





I

torsional response is small for the case of the 210° heading, and the agreement is also generally good in that case. However the overall agreement is not as satisfactory for the case of 240° heading, with the greatest degree of deviation in the case of the torsional moment, especially for short wavelengths. However, it does appear that there is overall somewhat of an improvement in the degree of correlation between theory and experiment in the present case of these lateral load responses when using the extended theory, as compared to the comparison presented in [2] for these conditions.

The results for quartering seas (headings of 60° and 30°) are shown in Figures 43-56. The agreement between theory and experiment is generally poor for almost all of the quantities compared for both the roll motion and the loads, with the greatest deviation in roll motion and for the torsional moment response. In most cases the responses in torsion differ very significantly from the measurements, while for one of the conditions (25 kt., heavy displacement) the agreement is somewhat better. In that case the agreement between theory and experiment for the roll motion was also fairly good. Since it is known that roll motion has a large influence on torsion, especially for the range of conditions wherein rolling is large, this behavior is similar to that obtained in [2] as well as a number of other studies involving lateral plane loads and motions. The deviation between theory and experiment for lateral shear was not very significant in most cases, but the model measurements of lateral bending moment were not predicted well by the theory for these particular test conditions (30° and 60° headings). The significant difference in the torsion response for the speed change between 25 kt. and 30 kt., which is predicted by theory, also does not compare with the model measure-Since no roll motion responses were provided in [1] for ments. the 30 kt. speed for these headings, these results for torsion changes (due to forward speed changes) could not be related to any change in roll characteristics arising from forward speed changes.

The computational results exhibited in Figures 43-56 for the quartering-sea headings (as well as those in Figures 31-42 for the bow-sea headings) were carried out for the ship with the correct GM value, or at least sufficiently close to either that desired or obtained in accordance with the information given in Tables 5 and 6 of [1] (also Tables IV and V of [2]). This would ordinarily be expected to be the condition under which the computations were carried out, since the matching of model and/or full-scale characteristics is necessary when carrying out motions and loads predictions for any ship. However, there was an inconsistency in regard to the location of the vertical center of gravity (VCG) of the ship and the value of GM as given in [1] (Tables 5 and 6) and the values obtained from simple static computations via computer. Referring to the heavy displacement configuration, the draft at the CG was 32.6 ft. and, with the achieved VCG as 40.6 ft. above the baseline reference, that results in a value of \overline{OG} (distance between waterline and VCG position) = 8 ft.

-44-

With that position of the VCG, and the ship orientation within the water at the desired draft conditions, the resulting GM value would then be 4.55 ft. Similarly in the case of the light displacement configuration, with a CG draft of 29.8 ft., the value of \overline{OG} was 9.5 ft. in order to match the achieved VCG position in the model. In that case for the light displacement the GM value would then be 8.9 ft. For each of these conditions the GM value would be significantly different from that desired or achieved in the model representation, which was 2.6 ft. for the heavy displacement and 5.32 ft. for the light displacement (these values were the ones used for the present computation).

The value of GM obtained from the computer for each condition depends on the position of the metacenter M, which is determined from the geometry of the submerged portion of the ship. The displacement and related hydrostatic conditions determined from the computer appear to satisfy the requirements for the model, since the calculated displacements differ by less than 1% from those indicated in [1] and the trim conditions are in equilibrium, with the proper longitudinal center of buoyancy and longitudinal CG positions which also agree with that for the model. Thus there is a fundamental question as to the relation between the GM values and \overline{OG} values determined via computation as compared to those reported for the model in [1].

The choice for computation would be either to have the correct GM value and an incorrect \overline{OG} values, or the correct \overline{OG} value and an incorrect GM value. The choice made for the computation, where the results of motion and load responses are shown in Figures 43-56 (and also Figures 31-42) was that of a correct GM value, which was thought to be a more important parameter. Since there is a significant contribution to the torsional moment due to rolling motion, with an important contribution arising from the value of \overline{OG} (see [5] and [6]), there is certainly the prospect of error if all of these quantities are not consistently related to each other, especially for the quartering-sea headings where roll was Computations were also made for the conditions with correct large. OG value but incorrect GM (results of calculations not shown), with no improvement in the correlation with experiment and no discernible pattern in the results either. Thus the question of the roll characteristics of the SL-7 model, even for the static considerations, appears to introduce some external influence on the computation results and the resulting comparison between theory and model experiment. In addition to the static considerations there are other aspects of rolling motion and its influence on the lateral plane loads which must also be considered, and some discussion of these effects is given in the following section.

3. Effect of Roll Damping

... .. _

As mentioned previously the smooth-water roll-decay characteristics of the SL-7 model, as shown in Figure 4 of [1], indicated that the roll damping was nonlinear for the forward-speed conditions exhibited there. Assuming that the roll motion had a combined

..



-46-

ĺ

-

.



-47-





.

,

I.

-48-

ī.





60° heading





-50-



-51-

Т

. .





linear and quadratic damping, as represented by the free oscillation equation

$$\ddot{\phi} + \alpha \dot{\phi} + \beta \dot{\phi} |\dot{\phi}| + \omega_{\phi}^2 \phi = 0$$
 (24)

the roll decay from an initial value was analyzed via nonlinear oscillation theory [23] in order to determine the values of α and β (since ω_{ϕ} is known for the two displacement conditions).

The results of the mathematical solution fit with the parameter values are shown relative to the measured decay data in Figures 57 and 58, where the parameter values for the light displacement configuration are $\alpha = 0.06 \text{ sec.}^{-1}$ and $\beta = 1.787$, and the values for the heavy displacement configuration are $\alpha = 0.0108 \text{ sec.}^{-1}$ and $\beta = 12.665$ (using radian measure for the angles). The match of the amplitudes of oscillatory decay is quite good, indicating proper values for the parameters in this model.

According to the method of equivalent linearization used for frequency response analysis in [12], the effective value of linear damping is represented by

$$\alpha_{e} = \alpha + \frac{8}{3\pi} \beta \omega_{\phi} |\phi|$$
 (25)

where $|\phi|$ represented the amplitude of roll in an oscillatory forced response. The equivalent roll damping ratio $\zeta_{\phi} = 2\omega_{o}^{\alpha}e^{\alpha}$ is then

$$\zeta_{\phi} = \frac{\alpha}{2\omega_{o}} + \frac{4}{3\pi}\beta|\phi| \qquad (26)$$

. .

-- -----

and this value is then used in an iterative manner in connection with the extended SCORES theory to determine a final value of $\zeta_{\phi_{\mathrm{e}}}$ that agrees with the resultant value of roll angle at the roll resonant frequency. This method was used in [12] with success in treating the nonlinear damped roll responses in model tests.

In the present case of the SL-7 this method was applied, considering resonant roll responses, and it was found that the resulting effective damping ratio ζ_{ϕ_e} that converged with the calculated resonant roll angle was much larger than would be logically expected, i.e. an effective damping ratio $\zeta_{\phi_e} = 0.162$ for the light displacement configuration and $\zeta_{\phi_e} = 0.3$ for the heavy displacement configuration. The agreement between theory and model experiment for the torsion response was also not

-53-





۶

•

FIGURE 58 - Roll extinctions.

.

satisfactory when using these large values of effective roll damping, thereby providing another reason for their lack of credibility.

Some further illustrations of the influence of the magnitude of the roll damping coefficient ζ_{ϕ} are shown by the results in Figure 59 and 60. Both of these figures show roll response and torsion response for different values of ζ_{ϕ} , approximately ± 0.02 about the average values assumed in [2] and also the calculations used in the present study ($\zeta_{\phi} = 0.1$ for the light displacement configuration and $\zeta_{\phi} = 0.09$ for the heavy displacement configuration). The effect of such small changes in ζ_{ϕ} is seen to be relatively large in some cases, especially for torsion for the light displacement configuration (Figure 59), while fairly satisfactory agreement is obtained for the roll motion in that case. The lack of agreement with torsion model data using any of the roll damping values was discussed in the preceding section of the report.

Another feature of the comparison between theory and model experiment was an inconsistent agreement regarding the roll resonance condition. While there was some indication of a resonant response for the heavy displacement configuration, at 25 kt. speed and 30° heading, which agreed with experiment, the same was not true for the light displacement configuration (25 kt., 60° heading). The experimental roll response for both configurations over the range of wavelengths, for the 25 kt. speed and the two headings (as shown in Figures 43 and 50) thus indicates a lack of agreement relative to resonance for the various conditions tested. Similar effects in regard to the roll responses in quartering seas for another large container ship were reported in [20].

4. Effect of Leeway Angle

As reported in [1], the heading angles were measured with a variation up to $\pm 4^{\circ}$ due to the observed leeway angle. In order to determine the sensitivity of the computed (and measured) results to this possible magnitude of angular heading deviation, some computations were carried out with heading angle variation of $\pm 4^{\circ}$ about the nominal value. The results are shown in Figures 61-65.

It can be seen that there is only a small effect on lateral bending moment, with a much smaller effect on the vertical bending moment due to the small heading change. However there is a much larger relative effect on the roll angle and torsion responses in quartering seas, as shown in Figures 62 and 63, with the effect being somewhat larger than the changes in roll damping for the same conditions indicated in Figures 59 and 60. Thus it appears that some of the results in the lateral plane responses are quite sensitive to heading angle derivatives, at least for the order of $\pm 4^{\circ}$ changes (which may not be the average leeway deviation in each case).

----- -- ---

-55-





FIGURE 61 - Effect of leeway, 60° heading



د

2

FIGURE 62 - Effect of leeway, 60° heading



FIGURE 63 - Effect of leeway, 30° heading





FIGURE 64 - Effect of leeway, 30° heading

ź



FIGURE 65 - Effect of leeway, 180° and 210° heading
5. Results of Computations for Dutch Container Ship

A similar type of large fast container ship model was tested in Holland at NSMB in oblique regular waves [23], with measurements of the same basic motions and wave loads. The model was a 1:55 scale of a full-scale ship of 270 m. length (LBP) with a displacement of 56,097 m. tons, so that the model size was significantly larger than that of the SL-7 model in [1]. In addition the model wave height in the tests was kept constant regardless of the wavelength, and corresponded to 4.4 m. full scale. A full description of the model characteristics, test conditions, procedures and results is presented in [23].

Since this ship is similar to the SL-7, and the test measurements were of the same general type as in [1], a comparison of the experimental data in [23] with the calculated results from the present extended SCORES theory would be a further test of the validity of the computer method for waveload prediction. Some previous computations of these ship responses had been carried out ([24]) using the original SCORES program of [6], and the results for wave loads were sufficiently close to the model data, or followed the proper pattern of the model-load data, to represent a useful tool although the degree of agreement was not as good as the various cases illustrated in [5]. Representative results of computations with the extended SCORES program are shown here, compared to the model-test data of [23], and discussed in the following.

The results for heave and pitch motions, midship VBM and vertical shear for the ship in head seas (180° heading) are shown in Figures 66-69 for the forward speed corresponding to a Froude number $F_{\rm p} = 0.245$. The agreement between theory and experiment in this case, for both amplitude and phase (relative to the wave elevation at the ship CG), is very good. Similar results were found for the case of bow seas (referred to as 225° heading), and an indication of the results for a lateralplane response for this condition is the midship-torsion response shown in Figure 70. In that case the results of the original SCORES theory is also shown, with generally good agreement between theory and experiment from both theories for this particular response and condition.

The comparison for the case of quartering seas at 65° heading showed good agreement for heave and pitch motion and the midship vertical bending moment and vertical shear (representative results for VBM are shown in Figure 71). The rollmotion comparison was fair (Figure 72), with good agreement for midship lateral bending moment and lateral shear for this condition (see Figures 73 and 74). The midship torsion response in Figure 75 showed a much lesser degree of agreement.

For the case of 45° heading the comparison for the verticalplane responses was good, and the midship lateral bending



1.

-60-

ì



J

:



-61-

- -

---- -

- -



۲

-62-

ł

Ļ

r



••

.



•...

-64-

ι

comparison in Figure 76 was also quite good. However the torsion-response comparison was not satisfactory, as shown in Figure 77, although there was an improvement of the theory result relative to the original SCORES computations. This could possibly be related to the roll-motion results for this case, which are shown together with the results for the 25° heading case in Figure 78. The lack of adequate roll prediction for the 25° heading nevertheless did not lead to poor torsion response for this heading, as shown in Figure 79. Good agreement for the 25° heading was also found for both midship lateral bending moment and lateral shear, and similarly for the vertical-plane responses at this heading.

The comparisons between the model experiments of [23] and the present extended SCORES theory for this large fast container ship show generally good agreement between theory and experiment, with significant differences found in the roll motion and torsion responses for only a part of the conditions compared. It thus appears that the theory presented herein (i.e. the extended SCORES theory) has received further verification of its utility as a wave-load prediction tool as a result of these comparisons with data for a similar type ship under similar operational conditions.

6. Results of Computations for Series 60 Ship

÷

-

Since the extended SCORES theory computed results have shown improved correlation with model experiments for the SL-7 (except for conditions where roll behavior and characteristics were anomalous), and have also improved the correlation for the Dutch container ship tested in [23], the question of its utility for other ships arises. This is due to the fact that many conventional ships have shown agreement of model-test data with the original SCORES theory computations (e.g. see [5]), and it is possible that the extended SCORES theory results could alter the degree of agreement between theory and experiment. For the large fast container ships the influence of forward speed is expected to be significant, especially in view of the fact that the theory modifications (i.e. additional terms) required to produce the extended SCORES theory are proportional to the forward speed.

In order to determine the effect of the extended SCORES theory modifications on the correlation of computer results with model-test data, some computations were carried out for the same Series 60 ship that was studied in [5], viz. the model with $C_B = 0.80$ that was tested in [25]. Representative results for the wave loadings, i.e. vertical and lateral bending moments and the torsional moment (all at midship), at different headings for the speed $F_n = 0.15$ are shown in Figures 80-84. These figures show the model-test data, the computed results using the original SCORES theory (old) and those using the present extended SCORES theory (new). It can be seen from these figures that the differences between the two theoretical results are not very large, with a generally better agreement with the experimental data in most cases (but not in all) for the extended SCORES theory.

-65-

.



-66-

_

-

2



-ő7-

....



.

4.1

-89-



-69-

<u>~</u>

. .

.

s



÷



FIGURE 84 - Non-dimensional midship wave moments on Series 60, Block .80 hull, $F_n = 0.15$, 10° heading

The difficulty in adequate prediction of torsion is still present using either theoretical approach for some of the conditions, which may probably be due to the same reasons as discussed in [5]. Thus it can be seen that the extended SCORES theory is valid for conventional ships and is thus a useful prediction tool for ship wave loads.

ANALYSIS AND COMPUTATIONS FOR LOW ENCOUNTER FREQUENCY

In following and quartering-sea heading conditions for the SL-7 model, the encounter frequencies were found to be relatively low. In view of the logarithmic behavior at low frequency of the vertical sectional added mass (A33), it was thought during the work reported in [2] that this behavior could possibly have an unduly large effect that could influence the computed results for this ship in that range of operation. Some computations were carried out in [2] with this added-mass term set equal to zero throughout the entire wavelength range in following and quartering seas, with results that showed significantly improved agreement of this particular modified theory with the model-test data, primarily for the vertical bending moment and vertical shear at midships. While such an improvement did occur for these cases, as shown in [2], the use of this procedure would not be generally applicable to all headings; would not necessarily be appropriate for ships other than the SL-7 (based upon this single set of results); and the selection of particular conditions for the encounter frequency wherein the computational technique would "shift" to include the constraint with $A_{33} = 0$ could not be easily established for general use.

While the results of the present extended SCORES theory for the SL-7 have produced significant improvement in the correlation of the calculated results for the vertical-plane wave loads with those obtained from model tests, there are still basic questions as to the general validity of any type of strip theory for conditions with low encounter frequency. This is due to the basic requirement of strip theory being valid for high frequencies (or short wavelengths), but which has been successfully applied to longer wave conditions (see [26] for a general discussion of assumptions used in various ship-motion theories). Since the various vertical-plane hydrodynamic terms derived from strip theory may not have validity for some of the low-frequency conditions of the SL-7 in following and quartering seas, a theoretical approach was considered wherein these terms would be neglected, i.e., $A_{33}^1 = N_{33}^2 = 0$. The resulting theory would then include hydrostatic forces, as well as wave-excitation forces due to the Froude-Krylov effect and the pressure gradient variation with depth, together with the ship inertia forces. For the vertical plane this would involve solution of a second-order differential equation for both heave and pitch, which are coupled only hydrostatically, in order to obtain those motion responses. The local loading would then be found in terms of the ship inertial loads and the distributed hydrostatic and wave-force

-71-

C._.

terms, in the same manner as indicated in [5] but without any hydrodynamic terms due to the added mass and damping, i.e. $A_{33}^2 = N_{33}^2 = 0$ throughout the computations. Since the encounter-frequency conditions for the use of this method do not include the resonant heave and pitch natural frequencies, no difficulty should arise due to the lack of a damping mechanism for these conditions.

The results of the computations for the SL-7 heave and pitch motions, using this approach that neglects hydrodynamic forces due to motions, shows generally small differences from the motion responses obtained from the extended SCORES theory. A typical illustration of the comparison of the theoretical predictions of heave and pitch motions, for the case of following seas (0° heading), is given in Figure 85. Since the motions are generally well predicted by either the original or extended SCORES theories, the model data is essentially bracketted by the curves shown in Figure 85 and this method, neglecting hydrodynamic forces, is also an adequate procedure for determining ship motions.

Calculations of the midship bending moment for the SL-7 at headings of 0°, 30°, and 60° were also made using this method, and the comparison between theory and experiment is shown in Figures 86-88. There is generally an improvement in the correlation of the VBM amplitudes relative to that obtained from the extended SCORES theory, except for the shorter wavelengths. However the phase angles show large errors, of the order of 45° -150°, which tends to cast some doubt on the basic utility of this method for wave-load prediction at low encounter frequencies. Somewhat similar type results were found when applying this theoretical model to the Dutch container ship tested in [23], with fairly close agreement between the amplitudes from this special theory and the results of the extended SCORES theory. The close agreement with experimental amplitudes for motion and loads in the vertical plane is useful, but the same is true for the results of the extended SCORES theory. The lack of phase agreement provides further basis for use of the extended SCORES theory as a prediction tool rather than the application of special methods (i.e. involving neglect of hydrodynamic added mass and damping in the vertical plane) for the case of low encounter frequencies.

DISCUSSION OF SL-7 MODEL TEST DATA

In order to judge the general validity of the model-test data results for the SL-7 that were obtained in [1], a comparison of some nondimensional wave loads from that investigation was made with those obtained from a similar ship, viz. the Dutch container ship tested in [23]. The main item of interest was the midship vertical bending moment, which is the largest moment

-72-



¢,

-73-

response. The magnitudes for the case of the SL-7 (in nondimensional form) were slightly smaller than those obtained for the Dutch container ship. The general variation with heading angle, wavelength and speed was similar, for this particular response, for both ships. The lack of agreement between theory and experiment for the roll-motion response, as well as the resulting lack of agreement for torsion arising from the significant dependence of torsion moment on the ship roll response, were indicated for both of these ships although the particular degree of non-agreement in each case was somewhat different. On the basis of such a limited comparison, the model-test data for the SL-7, in particular for the vertical bending moment, was considered to be valid and probably representative of large, fast container ships.

3

As far as the overall test procedures, the SL-7 investigation reported in [1] considered possible extraneous influences that would affect measured response data. In particular the analysis of the effects of the rudder oscillation; the observation of leeway angles and determination of their range; and the evaluation of free roll decay characteristics. These are important features of model tests that are not carried out often in such studies of wave loads. The total number of measurements in [1] was quite large and hence a very complex system of measurement and subsequent data analysis, including determination of interaction between various measurement channels, was carried out in a clear and competent manner. However there were some particular aspects of the test procedures, as well as certain inherent aspects of the particular model behavior, that could produce an important influence on the measured data and the acceptance of the results in [1] as representative data for the motions and loads of the SL-7 ship. A more detailed discussion of these particular aspects within the test program is given in the following sections.

1. Wave Measurements

One particular point in regard to the model-test procedures for the SL-7 that could possibly introduce some errors in the response-amplitude ratios presented in [1], i.e. response amplitudes relative to the wave amplitude, could be the accuracy in measuring the wave amplitudes. In many of the tests, especially at oblique headings such as bow seas and quartering seas, the wave amplitudes were approximately 0.3 in. This is based upon wave height given as L/120 for these conditions. The problems of accurate measurement of such small wave amplitudes, especially with a probe moving through the water at forward speed, could certainly create significant errors in the wave reference measurement.

This magnitude of wave amplitude for the SL-7 tests can be contrasted with the wave amplitude used in the model tests of the Dutch container ship reported in [23], where the wave amplitudes in all the tests were uniformly about 1.6 in. This particular amplitude value would be less prone to measurement errors, thereby providing a better basis for use of such data in the Dutch investigation. Since no detailed indication of error level magnitudes in wave amplitude per se were provided in the SL-7 report (i.e. [1]), the only judgment as to the accuracy of the wave-amplitude measurements in that case is based upon the generally small magnitude used and the prospect of possible larger errors in that case.

2. Roll-Decay Characteristics

As indicated previously, the special smooth-water rollextinction tests that provided the roll-decay time histories were a useful addition to the direct model-test measurements of the SL-7 motions and loads in waves. This information could then be used to obtain proper numerical values of the coefficients in the roll-damping representation, as well as indicate the nature of the roll-damping characteristics. For zero speed the roll-decay curve was obtained after releasing the model from an initial roll-angle displacement, and the resulting decay curve indicated linear roll damping. For the conditions when the model was running at a speed equivalent to 28 kt. (full scale), the decay curves represented the response obtained after a steady resonant roll was introduced via the rudder oscillation, with the decay record obtained after the rudder oscillation was stopped.

The method of analysis used to determine the linear and nonlinear coefficients that are present in the representation of roll motion given in Eq. (24) is based upon the decay from an initial displacement, and assumes that the roll angular velocity is initially zero at that instant as well. It is possible that the test method used with the model running at speed did not satisfy that particular requirement, but there is no detailed discussion of the procedures used given in [1]. If there was a non-zero roll angular velocity present, then the solution method used to obtain the values of the parameters α and β in Eq. (24) would not be applicable, so that any values found would not be the proper parameter values. Perhaps that is the reason why the particular values found for α and β from these runs at speed provided too large a value of effective roll damping, which was the result indicated in a preceding section that considered the question of the influence of nonlinear roll damping.

3. Roll Static and Inertial Characteristics

A discussion was given previously, when considering lateralplane motion and load responses, of an inconsistency between the values of the transverse metacentric height GM and the location of the VCG relative to the waterline at the LCG position, i.e. the distance known as \overline{OG} in [5]. The hydrostatic characteristics of the waterplane, as well as the location of the VCB, determine the location of the metacentre M. Since the ship model was oriented in accordance with the data presented in [1], all of these hydrostatic properties obtained from calculation should be proper values for the ship. The value of VCG given in [1] would then not be

-75-

consistent with the GM value in accordance with the computations. Since the computations produced proper displacement, LCB and LCG location, etc. the question arises as to whether some error was present in the model or the model-test procedures. The possible magnitude of difference in GM obtained from the computed values (using the indicated VCG in [1]) would exceed significantly any change in GM due to free-surface effects, so that there appears to be some fundamental problem in reconciling the relations between GM and the VCG location given in [1]. The extent of this possible error in the quantities could then contribute significantly to the lack of correlation between theory and experiment in lateral-plane responses for quartering seas, since the influence of roll motion on lateral-plane loads is significant in that region.

5

4. Directional Control and Influence on Lateral-Plane Responses

One of the problems in conducting the model tests, which was reported in [1], was due to certain difficulties in maintaining control of the ship heading. In some cases the model developed large heel and yaw angles, and only the runs wherein such effects did not occur were reported as the source of data presented in [1]. Due to the influence of different starting-up transients in the carriage system, it is possible that a particular run would not necessarily be representative of the actual conditions which would be experienced when running at a particular heading and speed in a wave system. The only way to really determine the validity of such data obtained from any run would be to have check runs for the same basic condition, and as a result of the various control difficulties such repeat runs may not have been made or in some instances could not be obtained. This behavior could possibly be responsible for some error in the obtained ship motions and loads, and the effect of this aspect has not been presented in any specific quantitative form in [1].

The sensitivity of some of the lateral-plane responses to changes in heading, as manifested by the leeway angle, were shown to be possibly significant in magnitude according to computations exhibited in Figures 61-64. The control difficulty experienced in [1] could have resulted in a variation of heading manifested by a leeway angle of such a magnitude ($\sim 4^{\circ}$) that differences in the responses could arise due to that effect, as well as the problem of repeatability discussed above. All of these effects are specific problems that were experienced with this particular model, at the scale it was tested, when using the apparatus and techniques available at the testing organization. Possible modifications in the equipment and test technique for such tender high-speed ships might have resulted in different response magnitudes in the lateral plane, but the extent of such differences cannot be precisely established as a means of assessing the utility of the present test data.

5. Effect of Rudder and Data-Measurement Precision

As indicated in [1] the effect of rudder oscillation on lateral-plane responses is most significant for those cases where roll motion was largest, viz. in quartering seas. The magnitude of this effect on the lateral responses is indicated to be about 20% in [1], but according to some more detailed assessments based on the information in [1] the effect could be somewhat larger for certain cases. On that basis it appears that there is a fairly substantial allowable "band" about the model-test data which could allow an improved degree of correlation with any theoretical results sufficiently close to lie in that band. However the comparison between theory and experiment for quartering-sea lateral-plane responses shows larger differences than that, especially for the torsion responses. The lack of good correlation with roll motion, and its influence on such results, has been discussed previously and that is probably the major factor rather than consideration of rudder effects.

The general level of measurement accuracy for all of the model-data responses given in [1] has been stated as 5-10% (in that report) or as a fixed threshold, whichever is greater. These levels allow a wider band around the model data generally, for both vertical and lateral-plane responses, thereby allowing for an improvement in the correlation between theory and experiment when viewed in this manner. However this general statement as to measurement accuracy bounds does not relieve the prospect of other errors that may be present in the data due to other distinct effects that have been isolated and discussed previously in the present report.

CORRELATION BETWEEN THEORY AND EXPERIMENT

All of the preceding information and discussion regarding theory and experiment is aimed at evaluating the degree of correlation between these two approaches for predicting fullscale ship loads, with particular application to the SL-7 ship. This particular step is important since an entire program of investigation, including structural modeling, finite-element analyses, full-scale loads and motions measurement, wave measurements on the full-scale ship, etc. is being carried out under the Ship Structure Committee with support of other organizations as well. The entire investigation provides an excellent opportunity to determine the structural loads (and subsequent ship stresses) in many environmental situations, so that methods of analysis and prediction can be better assessed as to their utility for design purposes. A complete description of the entire SL-7 program is provided in [27].

The present correlation study is aimed at determining the relative capabilities of model tests and computer calculations as a means of predicting ship structural loads in waves. Previous

-77-

studies, e.g. [5], have shown the utility of computation by means of comparison between the theory results and model-test data, where good agreement between the two approaches provided a validation of the computer method. Since computation methods are much more efficient then model tests, from both the economic and time of performance points of view, the use of this method was enhanced by such a successful correlation.

However, in the case of the SL-7, the degree of correlation between theory calculations and model-test data shown in [2] was relatively poor. This particular class of ship, viz. a large, fast container ship, introduced special conditions due to its high speed coupled with test conditions for short waves that were not experienced in any prior studies using the theory and computer program of [5] and [6]. The additional analyses carried out in the present study shows that the most significant aspect of the theory which improved the degree of correlation between theory and experiment was the inclusion of additional terms in the equations, resulting in the extended SCORES theory. These additional terms are proportional to forward speed and have their largest influence at high speed, which is consistent with the results for this case.

Computations with the extended SCORES theory were applied to another large, fast container ship with good agreement between theory and experiment, as shown in Figures 66-79. The conditions there were essentially the same as for the SL-7, with similar high speed (and Froude number) and covering headings down to The same theory was applied to a conventional quartering seas. Series 60 ship model, for which the original SCORES theory showed fairly good agreement with model-test data in [5], and the degree of agreement was somewhat improved by this extended-theory method. Thus there is no degradation of the good results obtained in [5], while agreement for the case of large, fast container ships at all headings is also found by use of the extended SCORES theory. The agreement was generally good for both vertical plane and lateralplane responses, with a reduced agreement in the lateral plane. This is probably due to use of an estimated linear roll-damping value, lack of information on detailed distribution of rollinertial properties along model hull, and other factors related to roll-motion influence that have been discussed herein as well as other references (e.g. [5], [20]).

In the case of the SL-7, the agreement between the extendedtheory calculations and model-test data for vertical-plane responses was generally good, with a significant improvement relative to the results obtained in [2]. This was found over the entire heading range, from head through following seas. The differences between theory and experiment for vertical-plane loads were about 10-15%, while the general precision of data measurement is given in [1] as 5-10%. This type of agreement is certainly satisfactory, and is consistent with the results obtained in [5] as well as being representative of the present state of the art in computer prediction of ship motions and loads. Application

-78-

<u>ختہ _</u>

of the extended SCORES theory directly gave these results, and it was not necessary to use any altered equation system for different frequency ranges, as was done for some low-frequency cases (only as an illustration of an approach) and shown in Figures 86-88.

For the lateral-plane response of SL-7, the agreement was still poor, especially for quartering seas. An improvement relative to the results of [2] was obtained for bow-sea headings, with fairly good agreement for some responses, but the conditions in quartering seas are more important since larger lateral-plane responses are experienced there, primarily due to the influence of large roll motions. The significance of roll motion in this regard, where poor roll-response correlation results also in poor lateral-load-response correlation, is an important feature of the whole problem. In bow seas, with very small roll motion and hence small effect on lateral-load responses, the correlation between theory and model experiment was generally good. Thus concern is directed toward the roll characteristics of the SL-7 model in the tests reported in [1].

A number of items related to the roll motion of the SL-7 model were discussed in preceding sections of this report. The sensitivity of calculated load results to the roll-damping value and also the general level of roll-motion response has been amply illustrated. A number of features of the model roll characteristics have been shown to be questionable, such as the static roll and inertial characteristics that relate GM and \overline{OG} , as well as the directional control problem of the particular model in [1] that certainly had an influence on the rolling responses. Questions as to repeatability of certain data runs, wave-measurement accuracy, the effect of heading deviations, sufficient length of run at low frequency of encounter, etc. are all present for just the range of conditions where difficulty in correlation between theory and experiment is found for this SL-7 model.

Another aspect of rolling, viz. the determination of rolldamping-decay curves when running at forward speed, did not provide enough information as to details of conditions that would allow proper evaluation of the linear and nonlinear damping parameters as has been done for cases at zero speed in other applications. However that aspect can be viewed as secondary until the questions concerning the proper static and inertial roll properties is reconciled, as well as the influence of directional control difficulty on roll and lateral-plane load responses.

On the basis of all of these questions and unknown features, it appears that the model tests, at least in quartering seas, should be run again with more detailed concern as to repeatability, etc. Necessary model-apparatus modifications, or use of facilities that have appropriate test equipment for tender, fast, surface ships, should be insured to eliminate the difficulties experienced in [1]. Perhaps the use of a larger model, with larger wave heights in the tests, would be a more suitable procedure for repeat tests in this

-79-

. .



-80-

1



FIGURE 88 - Midship vertical wave bending moments and wave phase lag, 60° heading

.

-81-

---- .

.

area. Similarly the larger model would allow more accurate determination of roll static and inertial properties, thereby providing input information without inconsistencies that could be applied to computer calculations.

1. Comparison of Irregular-Sea Responses

While the above discussion is concerned with the relation between theory calculations and model experiment in regular waves, and certain difficulties in the experiments appear to warrant repeat tests, additional information on the relations between theory and experiment can be obtained from comparison of rms responses in different irregular seas. Some results of this nature were presented in [2], and information using the present theory is presented here for the same sea conditions.

The waves are represented by Pierson-Moskowitz spectra covering significant wave heights from 10 ft. to 50 ft., in steps of 10 ft., and a cosine-squared directional spreading law is used to allow computation of results in short-crested seas. Results are presented for predominant headings of 0° and 180°, for speeds of 25 and 30 kt., applying the present extended SCORES theory and also using the response operation from [2] to represent the values obtained from model experiments.

The results of these calculations of rms response using the response operations from the present theory and those from model experiment are given in Table 4. It can be seen that the responses for the head sea (predominant wave directions) are in fairly good agreement, for both the vertical and lateral-plane responses. For the following-sea results the agreement between theory and experiment is poor for lateral-plane responses, but generally good for vertical-plane responses. All of these results are consistent with the results of the comparison between theory calculations and model-test data in regular waves, discussed previously, and indicate the general relationship to be expected when comparing results in irregular seas. The present comparison of irregular short-crested sea responses does exhibit better correlation between theory and experiment then that given in [2], indicating a more valid computation tool for those conditions which are not affected by model-test difficulties.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

As a result of this investigation a number of conclusions have been obtained. The different elements considered to modify the basic theory have been shown to have negligible effect, except for the addition of certain speed-dependent terms in the equations of motion that result in the extended SCORES theory. This theoretical model has shown good correlation with model-test data for conventional ships, another large, fast container ship similar to SL-7, and also for the SL-7 vertical-plane responses. The extended SCORES theory can be used over the entire range of

TABLE 4

Comparison Between Theoretical and Experimental R.M.S. Responses in Short-Crested Seas

٨

			Heading = 0° Speed = 25 kt.							
			Significant Wave Height, ft.							
			10	20		40	50			
				Pitch - Deg.						
Theory	(Heav (Lig)	vy) nt)	.117 .126	.536 .557	.970 .996	1.34 1.37	1.64 1.67			
Experim	ent	(Heavy) (Light)	.1164 .1254	.556 .5594	.9926 .9668	1.284 1.237	1.464 1.403			
			Vertical Bending Moment (midship)-ft. tons							
Theory	(Hea (Lig	vy) ht)	4.91E4 5.21E4	1.29E5 1.31E5	1.79E5 1.79E5	2.10E5 2.09E5	2.30E5 2.27E5			
Experim	ent	(Heavy) (Light)	4.2742E4 4.511E4	1.501E5 1.399E5	2.216E5 1.998E5	2.623E5 2.324E5	2.860E5 2.51E5			
			Lateral	Bending	Moment (m	idship)-ft	. tons			
Theory	(Hea (Lig	vy) ht)	2.24E4 1.98E4	4.34E4 3.93E4	5.42E4 4.99E4	6.06E4 5.63E4	6.48E4 6.07E4			
Experim	ent	(Heavy) (Light)	3.451E4 2.685E4	7.09 4E 4 5.567E4	8.846E4 6.737E4	9.778E4 7.264E4	1.031E5 7.53 7E 4			
			Lateral Shear (midship) - tons							
Theory	(Hea (Lig	vy) ht)	1.31E2 1.22E2	2.24E2 2.07E2	2.65E2 2.44E2	2.86E2 2.62E2	2.99E2 2.74E2			
Experim	lent	(Heavy) (Light)	1.312E2 7.707E1	3.057E2 1.794E2	3.945E2 2.248E2	4.398E2 2.455E2	4.650E2 2.563E2			
				Vertical	Shear (mi	dship) - t	ons			
Theory	(Hea (Lig	vy) ht)	4.46E2 4.97x10 ²	7.27E2 7.96x10 ²	8.30E2 9.03x10 ²	8.78E2 9.49E2	9.02E2 9.78E2			
Experim	ient	(Heavy) (Light)	1.893E2 1.814E2	4.145E2 3.893E2	5.054E2 4.729E2	5.467E2 5.101E2	5.677E2 5.243E2			
					Roll - De	<u>g.</u>				
Theory	(Hea (Lig	vy) ht)	1.21 1.75	5.01 4.32	7.95 5.92	9.86 6.83	1 1.1 7.39			
Experim	nent	(Heavy) (Light)	2.201 2.221	7.027 5.118	9.902 6.470	11.468 7.111	12.359 7.450			
			Torsion	(about c.	g., midshi	p)-ft. tor	15			
Theory	(Hea (Lig	vy) ht)	2.58E3 3.79E3	9.81E3 9.13E3	15.2E3 12.3E3	1.85E4 1.41E4	2.08E4 1.51E4			
Experim	nent	(Heavy) (Light)	1.834E3 2.056E3	6.495E3 5.266E3	9.373E3 6.793E3	1.091E4 7.519E3	1.178E4 7.902E3			

.....

_

-

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Comparison Between Theoretical and Experimental R.M.S. Responses in Short-Crested Seas

Heading = 0° Speed = 30 kt.

	Significant Wave Height, ft.					
		20	30	40	50	
	Vertica	al Bending	Moment (m	idship)-ft	. tons	
Theory (Heavy)	4.85E4	1.27E5	1.76E5	2.06E5	2.26E5	
(Light)	5.20E4	1.31E5	1.79E5	2.08E5	2.27E5	
Experiment (Heavy)	4.401E4	1.520E5	2.240E5	2.648E5	2.890E5	
(Light)	5.094E4	1.452E5	2.045E5	2.372E5	2.557E5	
	Latera	l Bending M	Moment (mi	dship)ft.	tons	
Theory (Heavy)	1.96E4	3.99E4	5.13E4	5.85E4	6.35E4	
(Light)	2.00E4	4.06E4	5.20E4	5.91E4	6.39E4	
Experiment (Heavy)	3.428E4	6.537E4	7.767E4	8.372E4	8.71E4	
(Light)	2.247E4	5.486E4	6.990E4	7.703E4	8.080E4	
	Torsion	n (about c.	.g., midsh:	ip) - ft.	tons	
Theory (Heavy)	2.62E3	5.92E3	8.83E3	1.11E4	1.28E4	
(Light)	6.19E3	1.24E4	1.52E4	1.65E4	1.73E4	
Experiment (Heavy)	2.288E3	6.860E3	9.766E3	1.139E4	1.232E4	
(Light)	2.791E3	6.127E3	7.704E3	8.455E3	8.852E3	

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Comparison Between Theoretical and Experimental R.M.S. Responses in Short-Crested Seas

Heading = 180° Speed = 25 kt.

5

,

🗢

		Significant Wave Height, ft.							
		10	20	30	40	50			
		Pitch - Deg.							
Theory (Heavy)		.199	1.09	1.85	2.39	2.79			
(Light)		.204	1.07	1.81	2.34	2.74			
Experiment	(Heavy)	.1904	1.007	1.714	2.157	2.423			
	(Light)	.1904	1.007	1.714	2.157	2.423			
		Vertica	al Bending	Moment (midship)-ft. tons					
Theory (Hea	avy)	4.11x10 ⁴	1.40x10 ⁵	2.05x10 ⁵	2.43x10 ⁵	2.66x10 ⁵			
	ght)	3.99x10 ⁴	1.27x10 ⁵	1.81x10 ⁵	2.14x10 ⁵	2.34x10 ⁵			
Experiment (Heavy)		5.166x10 ⁴	1.590x10 ⁵	2.255x10 ⁵	2.613x10 ⁵	2.814x10 ⁵			
(Light)		4.617x10 ⁴	1.416x10 ⁵	2.002x10 ⁵	2.316x10 ⁵	2.493x10 ⁵			
		Latera	l Bending I	Moment (mia	lship)-ft.	tons			
Theory (Hea	avy)	2.48x10 ⁴	5.57x10 ⁴	7.13x10 ⁴	7.94x10 ⁴	8.41x10 ⁴			
(Lig	ght)	2.41x10 ⁴	5.28x10 ⁴	6.67x10 ⁴	7.38x10 ⁴	7.78x10 ⁴			
Experiment (Heavy)		3.175x10 ⁴	6.388x10 ⁴	7.646x10 ⁴	8.207x10 ⁴	8.496x10 ⁴			
(Light)		2.639x10 ⁴	5.325x10 ⁴	6.411x10 ⁴	6.898x10 ⁴	7.150x10 ⁴			
			Lateral	Shear (mid	lship) - to	ons			
Theory (Head	avy)	.755E2	1.16E2	1.30E2	1.35E2	1.38E2			
	ght)	.728E2	1.08E2	1.19E2	1.24E2	1.26E2			
Experiment	(Heavy)	1.075E2	1.807E2	2.033E2	2.124E2	2.169E2			
	(Light)	1.024E2	1.666E2	1.858E2	1.935E2	1.972E2			
		Vertical Shear (midship) - tons							
Theory (Head (Lie	avy)	1.63E2	4.51E2	5.90E2	6.57E2	1.38E2			
	ght)	1.83E2	5.03E2	6.58E2	7.35E2	7.77E2			
Experiment	(Heavy)	2.055E2	4.240E2	5.131E2	5.548E2	5.770E2			
	(Light)	2.055E2	4.240E2	5.131E2	5.548E2	5.770E2			
Torsion (about c.g., midship) - ft. tons									
Theory (He	avy)	1.69E3	3.45E3	4.26E3	4.75E3	5.16E3			
(Li	ght)	1.91E3	3.68E3	4.75E3	6.03E3	7.62E3			
Experiment	(Heavy)	1.970E3	3.351E3	3.795E3	3.982E3	4.077E3			
	(Light)	2.062E3	3.515E3	3.972E3	4.161E3	4.255E3			

ها السليم ، ا

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Comparison Between Theoretical and Experimental R.M.S. Responses in Short-Crested Seas

Heading = 180° Speed = 30 kt.

ţ

	Significant Wave Height, ft.					
	10	20	30	40	50	
	Verti	cal Bending	g Moment (1	nidship)-f	t. tons	
Theory (Heavy)	4.09E4	1.37E5	2.00E5	2.38E5	2.61E5	
(Light)	4.11E4	1.36E5	1.96E5	2.31E5	2.53E5	
Experiment (Heavy)	6.052E4	1.777E5	2.501E5	2.890E5	3.109E5	
(Light)	4.882E4	1.572E5	2.242E5	2.595E5	2.791E5	
	Later	al Bending	Moment (mi	idship)-ft	. tons	
Theory (Heavy)	2.69E4	5.68E4	7.15E4	7.92E4	8.37E4	
(Light)	2.28E4	4.99E4	6.34E4	7.03E4	7.42E4	
Experiment (Heavy)	3.043E4	6.196E4	7.507E4	8.108E4	8.421E4	
(Light)	2.571E4	5.225E4	6.308E4	6.795E4	7.047E4	
	Torsion	(about c.o	g., midshir)-ft. ton	s	
Theory (Heavy)	2.07E3	3.93E3	4.87E3	4.87E3 5.51E3		
(Light)	1.86E3	3.62E3	4.66E3	4.66E3 5.83E3		
Experiment (Heavy)	2.196E3	3.714E3	4.185E3	4.381E3	4.480E3	
(Light)	2.150E3	3.635E3	4.097E3	4.287E3	4.381E3	

._.. - ----

- -

conditions, with sufficient accuracy at low encounter frequencies, and does not require special treatment of hydrodynamic forces just for that region in order to provide adequate vertical-plane load predictions.

The major problem for correlation of the SL-7 lateral-plane responses occurs in quartering-sea conditions where large roll motion occurs. While the problem of proper roll-motion prediction generally exists in this case as well as for other ships, there appear to be problems in the model experiments and determination of model characteristics related to roll that raise questions as to the validity of the present SL-7 model-test data for these operating conditions. This is considered to be due to inconsistent values of roll static and inertial properties, lack of repeatable test results due to the model directional control behavior, etc.

At this time it appears that the use of computer calculations for load prediction of ships, including the SL-7 type of container ship, is a suitable tool for further use as long as adequate input data on the ship characteristics are provided. The benefits of calculation methods in regard to time and COSt factors are evident, and the overall agreement between theory and experiment has had sufficient verification to allow its utility for this purpose.

The present study points out a number of recommendations for further work in this area of SL-7 data correlation, which are listed below:

- Further model tests should be carried out in the quartering-sea range, preferably with a larger model and/or special test apparatus that would be more suitable to such tender ship models with directional control problems.
- A more detailed determination should be made of the model roll static and inertial properties prior to the tests to insure consistency of the resulting values.
- 3. The roll-decay tests should be made with more information on time histories of motion presented, thereby allowing more precise analysis to evaluate damping parameters (linear and nonlinear), as well as using more than one method of initial roll disturbance as a means of checking repeatability of decay characteristics.
- 4. The correlation analysis associated with the data obtained from the tests described above can be carried out using the present extended SCORES theory, with input data pertinent to the model that is being re-tested. Such a comparison will provide a more definitive answer concerning the relation of theory and model tests for predictive purposes when considering lateral-plane responses in guartering seas.

-87-

~____

REFERENCES

- Dalzell, J.F. and Chiocco, M.J.: "Wave Loads in a Model of the SL-7 Containership Running at Oblique Headings in Regular Waves," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-239, 1973.
- Kaplan, P., Sargent, T.P. and Cilmi, J.: "Theoretical Estimates of Wave Loads on the SL-7 Container Ship in Regular and Irregular Seas," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-246, 1974.
- Chiocco, M.J. and Numata, E.: "Midship Wave Bending Moments in a Model of the Cargo Ship 'Wolverine State' Running at Oblique Headings in Regular Waves," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-201, September 1969.

5

- 4. Numata, E. and Yonkers, W.F.: "Midship Wave Bending Moments in a Model of the Mariner-Class Cargo Ship 'California Bear' Running at Oblique Headings in Regular Waves," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-202, November 1969.
- 5. Kaplan, P. and Raff, A.I.: "Evaluation and Verification of Computer Calculations of Wave-Induced Ship Structural Loads," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-229, 1972.
- Raff, A.I.: "Program SCORES -- Ship Structural Response in Waves," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-230, 1972.
- Salvesen, N., Tuck, E.O. and Faltinsen, O.: "Ship Motions and Sea Loads," Trans. SNAME, Vol. 78, 1970.
- 8. Lewis, F.M.: "The Inertia of Water Surrounding a Vibratory Ship," Trans. SNAME, 1929.
- 9. Frank, W. and Salvesen, N.: "The Frank Close-Fit Ship-Motion Computer Program," NSRDC Report No. 3289, 1970.
- 10. Kaplan, P.: "Lecture Notes on Nonlinear Theory of Ship Roll Motion in a Random Seaway," Webb Inst. of Naval Architecture, July 1966.
- 11. Kaplan, P., Sargent, T.P., Raff, A.I., Bentson, J. and Bono, P.: "An Investigation of the Relative Motions of ACV Landing Craft and Large Amphibious Assault Ships," Oceanics, Inc. Report No. 72-90, February 1972.
- 12. Sargent, T.P., Silbert, M.N. and Kaplan, P.: "Feasibility Study of Mathematical Simulation of Loading Related Recreational Boat Accidents," Oceanics, Inc. Report No. 75-124, December 1975.
- 13. Kaplan, P., Raff, A.I. and Sargent, T.P.: "Experimental and Analytical Studies of Buoy Hull Motions in Waves," National Data Buoy Center NDBCM 6113.3, April 1972.

-88-

- 14. Lamb, H.: <u>Hydrodynamics</u>, Dover Pub., New York, 6th Edition, 1945.
- 15. Kaplan, P. and Jacobs, W.R.: "Two-Dimensional Damping Coefficients from Thin-Ship Theory," Davidson Laboratory Note No. 586, April 1960.
- 16. Gerritsma, J.: "Distribution of Hydrodynamic Forces Along the Length of a Ship Model in Waves," Shipbuilding Laboratory, Delft University Report No. 144, March 1966.
- 17. Lalangas, P.A.: "Lateral and Vertical Forces and Moments on a Restrained Series 60 Ship Model in Oblique Regular Waves," Davidson Laboratory Report No. R-920, October 1963.
- 18. Chey, Y.: "Experimental Determination of Wave-Excited Forces and Moments Acting on a Ship Model Running in Oblique Regular Waves," Davidson Laboratory Report No. R-1046, October 1964.
- 19. Timman, R. and Newman, J.N.: "The Coupled Damping Coefficients of Symmetric Ships," Journal of Ship Research, Vol. 5, No. 4, March 1962.
- 20. Flokstra, C.: "Comparison of Ship Motion Theories with Experiments for a Container Ship," Internation Shipbuilding Progress, Vol. 21, No. 238, June 1974.
- 21. Gerritsma, J., Beukelman, W. and Glansdorp, C.C.: "The Effects of Beam on the Hydrodynamic Characteristics of Ship Hulls," presented at Tenth Symposium on Naval Hydrodynamics, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, June 24-28, 1974.
- 22. Kaplan, P.: "Application of Slender-Body Theory to Forces Acting on Submerged Bodies and Surface Ships in Regular Waves," Journal of Ship Research, Vol. 1, No. 3, November 1957.
- 23. Tan Seng Gie: "Wave Load Measurements on a Model of a Large Container Ship," Netherlands Ship Research Centre TNO, Report No. 173S, December 1972.
- 24. Work carried out by Oceanics, Inc. for private clients, (1971-1972).
- 25. Wahab, R., "Amidships Forces and Moments on a C_B = 0.80 'Series 60' Model in Waves from Various Directions," Netherlands Ship Research Centre TNO, Report No. 100S, November 1967.
- 26. Ogilvie, T.F.: "Fundamental Assumptions in Ship-Motion Theory," Paper No. 14, International Symposium on the Dynamics of Marine Vehicles and Structures in Waves, April 1974, (published by the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, London).
- 27. Siekierka, W.J., Johnson, R.A., and Loosmore, C.S.: "SL-7 Instrumentation Program Background and Research Plan," Ship Structure Committee Report No. SSC-257, 1976.

--89-

.

 $- \simeq$

_ ._...

METRIC CONVERSION FACTORS

	Approximate Conversions to Metric Measures					23		Approximate Conversions from Metric Measures		
Symbol	"When You Know	Multiply by	To Find	Symbol			Symbol	When You Knew	Multiply by	To Find
					• •••				LENGTH	_
		LENGTH				²⁰				_
			1				ជាជា	millimoters	0.04	inches
						· · · · ·	CW	centimoters	0,4	inches
in	inches	*2.5	continueters	cm.		<u> </u>	m	meters	3.3	reel
fi,	feet	30	centimoturs	cm		≣ ₽	km	kilopotest	1.1	yards
Y0	yards	0.9	meters	m		<u> </u>	An	RITORINE LET'S	0.0	11163
mi	milas	1,6	kilometers	km		<u>ا ا</u>				
	·	AREA				<u> </u>			AREA	-
-					<u> </u>		cm ²	square ceptimeters	0.18	souare inche
in f	square inches	6.5	square centimeters	cm ²		E 3	m ²	souare meters	1.2	square vards
it",	square feet	0.09	square meters	m ²			km ²	square kilometers	0.4	square miles
yd -	square yards	0.8	square meters	m ⁴ ,			ha	hectares (10,000 m ²)	2.5	acres
mi"	square miles	2.6	square kilometers	km*						
	acres	0.4	hectares	ha		<u> </u>				
	Μ	ASS (weight)			s			N	AASS (weight)	
						E				
32	ounces	28	grams	g		=	0	grams	0.035	ounces
5	pounds	0.45	kilograms	kg			kg	kilograms	2,2	pounds
	short tons	0.9	tonnes	t		Ē	t	tonnes (1000 kg)	1.1	short tons
	(2000 15)				► -=					
		VOLUME							VOLUME	_
lsp	teaspoons	5	millitters	ml	_		ml	milliliters	0.03	fluid ounces
Tosp	tablespoons	15	milliliters	ml			1	liters	2.1	pints
íl oz	fluid ounces	30	milliliters	mt	<u>ہ</u> ے۔ د	<u> </u>	i	liters	1.06	quarts
c	cups	0.24	liters	1		<u>۲</u>	١.	liters	0.26	gallons
pt	pints	0.47	liters	1			m ³	cubic meters	35	cubic feet
qt	quarts	0.95	liters	I		<u> </u>	m ³	cubic meters	1,3	cubic yards
gal . 1	gallons	3.8	liters	1		<u> </u>				
117	CUDIC Seat	0.03	Cubic meters	m,				Trac		
γa≖	cubic yards	0,76	cubic meters	m³	·	<u> </u>		<u>IEM</u>	PENALUHE (exac	<u>t)</u>
	TEMP	ERATURE (exact)					°c	Colsius	9/5 (then	Fahrenheit
								temperature	add 32)	temperature
	Fahrenhoit	5/9 (after	Celsius	°C		*				
	temperature	subtracting	temperature							
		32)				×		°F 32	98.6	
						<u> </u>	-	-40 0 40	80 120	160 2
'l in * 2,5	4 (exactly). For other exact conv	ersions and more detailed	d tables, see NBS Misc. Put	M. 28 6,	; <u>-</u>	<u> </u>		╸┡╸┶┲╧╍┶┰┹╍╋╺╺╻	╶┥╺┠┈┥╻┥╏╏┍╋╸ ╬╴	┙╏┛╏┙ ╡╌┸┲
Units of Wea	ghis and Measures, Price \$2.25, 5	5D Catalog No. C13.10:28	16.		che	F	-	-40 -20 Ó	20 40 37	60 80
					w —	<u> </u>		v		

{

1

Т

Т

UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered) READ INSTRUCTIONS REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE BEFORE COMPLETING FORM 2. GOVT ACCESSION NO. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER 1. REPORT NUMBER SSC-271 5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED Final Technical Report 4. TITLE (and Subtitle) A CORRELATION STUDY OF SL-7 LOADS 5/19/75 thru 7/19/76 AND MOTIONS - MODEL TESTS AND COMPUTER 5. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER SIMULATION 76-133 8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(S) 7. AUTHOR(s) N00024-75-C-4285 Paul Kaplan, Theodore P. Sargent and Mark N. Silbert 10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS 9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS OCEANICS, Inc. SF 43 422 703 06, 65 South Service Road, Tech. Ind. Pk. Task 2022, SR-230 Plainview, New York 11803 12. REPORT DATE 11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS October 1977 Dept. of the Navy Naval Sea Systems Command 13. NUMBER OF PAGES Washington, DC 20362 89 14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If different from Controlling Office) 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report) Ship Structure Committee UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Coast Guard Hdqtrs. 15a DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE Washington, DC 20590 16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Unlimited 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, if different from Report) Unlimited 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) COMPUTERS, MATHEMATICAL MODELS, SHIP HULLS, STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS, WAVES, CONTAINER SHIP 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) A correlation study is carried out (for the SL-7 container ship) by means of comparison of results for structural loads and motions in waves obtained from model tests and computer calculations. The different aspects that could affect computer predictions are examined via further computations and analyses in order to determine their influence on the output data. Similarly an examination of the possible effects that influence the model test data are DD 1 JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered)

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

also examined. The main objective of this study is to determine the capabilities of both test methods for prediction purposes.

Comparisons are also made between theoretical predictions and results for other related ship models for which test data is available. Consistency of various results obtained is used as a basis of assessing the degree of validity of any particular method, as well as determining the exact difference in results due to various mechanisms that influence both the theory and experiments. Improvements in the theoretical model leading to an extended SCORES theory are described, together with the comparison with a range of avaiable data for the SL-7 and other ships. The particular type of output information, as well as the regions wherein such data are found to differ significantly from the theory are described together with suggested reasons for such lack of agreement. Recommendations for additional tests and further computations for comparison purposes are also provided, with an interim conclusion that the computer program (extended SCORES theory) is presently a suitable tool for prediction purposes.

<u>UNCLASSIFIED</u> SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

SHIP RESEARCH COMMITTEE Maritime Transportation Research Board National Academy of Sciences-National Research Council

The Ship Research Committee has technical cognizance of the interagency Ship Structure Committee's research program:

MR. O. H. OAKLEY, Chairman, Consultant, McLean, Virginia
MR. M. D. BURKHART, Head, Marine Science Affairs, Office of Oceanographer of the Navy
DR. J. N. CORDEA, Senior Staff Metallurgist, ARMCO Steel Corporation
MR. D. P. COURTSAL, Vice President, DRAVO Corporation
MR. E. S. DILLON, Consultant, Silver Spring, Maryland
DEAN D. C. DRUCKER, College of Engineering, University of Illinois
MR. W. J. LANE, Consultant, Baltimore, Maryland
MR. R. W. RUMKE, Executive Secretary, Ship Research Committee

The Ship Design, Response, and Load Criteria Advisory Group prepared the project prospectus, evaluated the proposals for this project, provided the liaison technical guidance, and reviewed the project reports with the investigator:

MR. W. J. LANE, Chairman, Consultant, Baltimore, Maryland
PROF. A. H.-S. ANG, Dept. of Civil Engineering, University of Illinois
PROF. S. H. CRANDALL, Dept. of Mechanical Engineering, Massachusetts
Institute of Technology

DR. M. K. OCHI, Research Scientist, Naval Ship R & D Center, Bethesda, MD
PROF. W. D. PILKEY, Dept. of Mechanics, University of Virginia
PROF. H. E. SHEETS, Chairman, Dept. of Ocean Engrg., University of Rhode Island
MR. H. S. TOWNSEND, Consultant, Westport, Connecticut

SHIP STRUCTURE COMMITTEE PUBLICATIONS

These documents are distributed by the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Va. 22151. These documents have been announced in the Clearinghouse journal U.S. Government Research & Development Reports (USGRDR) under the indicated AD numbers.

SL-7 PUBLICATIONS TO DATE

- SL-7-1, (SSC-238) Design and Installation of a Ship Response Instrumentation System Aboard the SL-7 Class Containership S.S. SEA-LAND McLEAN by R. A. Fain. 1974. AD 780090.
- SL-7-2, (SSC-239) Wave Loads in a Model of the SL-7 Containership Running at Oblique Headings in Regular Waves by J. F. Dalzell and M. J. Chiocco. 1974. AD 780065.
- SL-7-3, (SSC-243) Structural Analysis of SL-7 Containership Under Combined Loading of Vertical, Lateral and Torsional Moments Using Finite Element Techniques by A. M. Elbatouti, D. Liu, and H. Y. Jan. 1974. AD-A002620
- SL-7-4, (SSC-246) Theoretical Estimates of Wave Loads on the SL-7 Containership in Regular and Irregular Seas by P. Kaplan, T. P. Sargent, and J. Cilmi. 1974. AD-A004554.
- SL-7-5, (SSC-257) SL-7 Instrumentation Program Background and Research Plan by W. J. Siekierka, R. A. Johnson, and CDR C. S. Loosmore, USCG. 1976. AD-A021337.
- SL-7-6, (SSC-259) Verification of the Rigid Vinyl Modeling Techniques: The SL-7 Structure by J. L. Rodd. 1976. AD-A025717.
- SL-7-7, (SSC-263) Static Structural Calibration of Ship Response Instrumentation System Aboard the SEA-LAND MalEAN by R. R. Boentgen and J. W. Wheaton. 1976. AD-A031527.
- SL-7-8, (SSC-264) First Season Results from Ship Response Instrumentation Aboard the SL-7 Class Containership S.S. SEA-LAND McLEAN in North Atlantic Service by R. R. Boentgen, R. A. Fain, and J. W. Wheaton. 1976. AD-A039752
- SL-7-9, Second Season Results from Ship Response Instrumentation Aboard the SL-7 Class Containership S.S. Sea-Land McLean in North Atlantic Service by J. W. Wheaton and R. R. Boentgen. 1976.
- SL-7-10, Third Season Results from Ship Response Instrumentation Aboard the SL-7 Class Containership S.S. Sea-Land McLean in North Atlantic Service by R. R. Boentgen. 1976.
- SL-7-11, (SSC-269) Structural Tests of SL-7 Ship Model by W. C. Webster and H. G. Payer. 1977.
- SL-7-12, (SSC-271) A Correlation Study of SL-7 Containership Loads and Motions -Model Tests and Computer Simulation by P. Kaplan, T. P. Sargent, and M. Silbert. 1977.